
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 5 November 2019 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Gemma Duckworth (0116 3052583) 

Email: gemma.duckworth@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (Chairman) 

 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 

Mr. J. Kaufman CC 
Mrs. C. Lewis 

Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr T. Parton CC 

 

Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
Mr. G. Welsh CC 
Mrs. A. Wright CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 3 September 
2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 14) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance   

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

  with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Adverse Childhood Experiences.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

 

 A presentation will be given at the meeting. 
 

 

9.  
  

Progress Report: Ofsted Recommendations as 
Part of the Ofsted Continuous Improvement 
Action Plan 2017-2020 - The Road to 
Excellence.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 15 - 20) 

10.  
  

Overview of Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities Improvements.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 21 - 30) 

11.  
  

Corporate Parenting Strategy.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 31 - 46) 

12.  
  

Leicestershire Fostering Agency Statutory 
Report.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 47 - 78) 

13.  
  

Leicestershire Adoption Agency Statutory 
Report.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 79 - 102) 

14.  
  

Annual Complaints and Compliments Report.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 103 - 
128) 

15.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 21 
January 2020 at 2.00pm. 
 
 

 

16.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 3 September 2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (in the Chair) 
 

Dr. T. Eynon CC 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 
Mr. J. Kaufman CC 
Mrs. C. Lewis 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
 

Mr T. Parton CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mr. G. Welsh CC 
Mrs. A. Wright CC 
 

In Attendance. 
 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC – Lead Member for Children and Family Services 
Mrs. D. Taylor CC – Cabinet Support Member. 
 

18. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 June 2019 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

19. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

20. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

21. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

22. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

23. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

24. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

2 

 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

25. Annual Report of the Local Safeguarding Children Board.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Independent Chair of the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board presenting the draft Annual Report of the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) for 2018/19.  A 
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes.  Any comments or 
proposed additions and amendments would be addressed in the final report before it was 
published. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were made: 
 

i)  The LRLSCB would cease on 25 September 2019 and would be replaced by 
multi-agency safeguarding arrangements which would be managed through a 
new Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership.  
Operationally, it was the intention that there would be little difference to what 
was currently in place; the most significant change was that there would now 
be equal and joint responsibility between the statutory partners.  The final 
details were currently being agreed but the aim was to build on existing 
practices and to streamline these to avoid duplication.  A report had been 
presented to the last meeting of the Committee around the new arrangements 
– this would be recirculated. 

 
ii)  In response to a query, it was stated that the new Partnership arrangements 

would build on what was already being undertaken well and, should any 
disagreements between the core partners occur, mechanisms would be in 
place to prevent this.  It had also been agreed to continue to have an 
Independent Advisor and their role would be to provide independent advice 
and scrutiny and to chair the Partnership meetings. 

 
iii)  Concern was expressed by a member around the increase in the number of 

children who were electively home educated.  It was noted that this increase 
could be attributed to a number of reasons, not least because the department 
was now better at collecting information about the young people.  The way this 
was recorded had changed and the department was able to access the 
information more readily.  It was noted that parents made a decision or moved 
their child as a result of feeling that schools weren’t meeting their child’s needs; 
this could raise concern within the department but the additional monitoring 
enabled the department to work with schools and parents to better meet the 
child’s needs.  Reassurance was given around the robust monitoring and the 
work being undertaken with schools by the Inclusion Team, but this would 
continue to be an area of focus. 

 
iv)  Concern was also raised that over a fifth of children who went missing in 

Leicestershire and Rutland were looked after children placed in the county from 
other areas.  It was noted that this group of children provided a significant 
challenge and work continued with partners to ensure awareness of these 
children when they were placed, the potential challenges that they may be 
experiencing and to ensure that there was a joint approach to support the 
children.  Lots of partnership working currently took place with the Police as a 

6



 
 

 

3 

large number of young people were subject to vulnerabilities such as going 
missing and links to child sexual exploitation.  The new partnership 
arrangements would seek to enhance the existing joint working with the Police 
and Health.  The issues of missing and elective home education had been 
identified as key areas that would continue to be considered and monitored by 
the new Partnership. 

 
v)  In response to a query, a key focus was to improve engagement with schools 

and the voluntary sector.  Discussions were currently taking place around how 
this could be achieved and how to promote messages within schools.  In terms 
of the voluntary and community sector, consideration was being given to 
identifying the best way to engage with this diverse group. 

 
vi)  It was noted that the Board budget for 2019/20 no longer included funding for 

Serious Case Reviews.  Confirmation was given that the Board had sufficient 
reserves to support any current Serious Case Reviews.  Under the new 
arrangements, these would be replaced by Child Safeguarding Practice 
Reviews and there would be different approaches to ensure that any learning 
was received and distributed in a more timely manner.  Agreement had been 
reached for the 2019/20 budget for the new Partnership and this included an 
agreed amount for Reviews.  Discussions were currently taking place between 
partners around the budget for future years.  It was stated that there was a 
rigorous process to determine the route for a case and to disseminate the 
learning from cases, and the Cabinet Lead Member provided reassurance that 
potential cases were discussed prior to them reaching the formal Serious Case 
Review stage. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

26. Early Years.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an overview of the work taking place across the county to support children in 
their early years.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

i)  In response to a query around financial pressures, the difficulties being faced 
by providers through the take up of free early education entitlement (FEEE) 
was highlighted.  It was noted that it was becoming more difficult to balance 
budgets, partly due to the significant on-costs providers were faced with.  It 
was also stated that providers were having to promote the use of FEEE in 
order to attract parents to use their provision. 

 
ii)  Concern was raised by a member that there was the danger of those not using 

FEEE effectively subsidising the children under the scheme or providers 
refusing to accept children as it would not be financially viable.  It was 
acknowledged that the amount of money the government provided per hour for 
FEEE children in Leicestershire did not always cover the cost per hour for the 
sector to deliver what was required.  The money from fee paying parents was 
not being used to subsidise the scheme, but providers were concerned that 

7



 
 

 

4 

they would not be able to afford to deliver the free education entitlement.  It 
appeared that there hadn’t been a significant element of turning children away 
from provision in Leicestershire, but the funding levels did not support the 
funding requirements for the early years sector. 

 
iii)  There had been a significant rise in the number of referrals made to the Early 

Years SEND advisors.  There was now a much better understanding of SEND 
issues and services were now aligned to better respond to demand.  However, 
there was still an issue with the number of referrals.  A SEND Board now 
existed, which gave parents the opportunity to express their views, and an 
example was given of a positive outcome as a result of intensive support from 
the team. 

 
iv)  The Committee was pleased to note that the Early Years Autism Team would 

broaden its remit to better support those children who had not yet been 
diagnosed but had an identified need relating to social communication and 
sensory processing.  A review of the Early Years Childcare Service had been 
undertaken and brought in the 0-5 specialist teaching service, a component of 
which was staff who were skilled in working with children with autism.  The 
diagnosis of autism was not as prevalent in the 0-5 age group but the decision 
had been to look at the skill set of this service and develop a more responsive 
approach.  Young people would be identified through an assessment 
undertaken at the setting they were in and through conversations with parents 
and families.  The aim was to remove the barrier of having a ‘label’ as a result 
of a diagnosis from health.  In terms of working with the young children, the 
special needs teaching service skill set was being spread across a wide range 
of staff and if a child did arrive in a setting with a ‘label’ the staff would be ready 
to work with them.  It was currently unknown whether this would have an 
impact on the number of children who would be electively home educated, but 
there was greater vigilance in the system to better respond to the children who 
were known to the Inclusion Service. 

 
v)  It was highlighted that 72% of eligible two year olds had taken up the FEEE 

and of these, 96% accessed good and outstanding provision.  Departmental 
casework management provided an oversight of performance in all areas of the 
service and there was confidence that there was sufficiency to highlight any 
concerns around providers. 

 
The Committee thanked the staff for the work undertaken in this area and was satisfied 
that things were moving in the right direction. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

27. Recruitment and Retention of Social Workers.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an update on the work undertaken to tackle the challenges around the 
recruitment and retention of social workers and the current position.  A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 

8



 
 

 

5 

 
i)  A dedicated strategy for recruitment and retention had been developed, and 

the implementation plan had identified 24 actions.  Of these, 20 had been 
completed and the remaining four continued to be progressed.  One had been 
an environmental study which had now been completed; a programme of 
support for managers and senior practitioners in the delivery of group 
supervision was underway; a commitment to provide training around systemic 
issues was in-hand but there had been a timing issue; and a review of the 
senior practitioner role was due to be undertaken as part of the Transformation 
Unit review of capacity in the department as a whole. 

 
ii)  In response to a query around the continued use of agency staff, it was stated 

that these were primarily to cover vacancies, maternity leave and long term 
sickness and also to cover the shortfall in capacity whilst supporting ASYEs.  
Agreement had been reached around how and where staff numbers would be 
increased but it was necessary, in some instances, to use agency staff to cover 
vacancies more immediately.  Clear oversight was provided on a monthly basis 
around the number of agency staff within the department.  It was 
acknowledged that the cost of using agency staff was a pressure and that this 
would remain, but it was necessary to ensure that cases continued to be 
managed. 

 
iii)  The department had adopted a ‘grow your own’ approach to widen the routes 

into social work.  Three Frontline students had now qualified and had joined the 
workforce as ASYEs – the feedback from these had been very positive.  There 
were also six social work apprentices and as these had already been employed 
elsewhere within the department, it was considered more likely that they would 
remain working for the County Council when they had qualified.  There was 
also a high retention rate from the ASYEs.  In response to a query, upon 
completing a qualification with the County Council, it was not possible for the 
department to tie in staff on a financial basis. 

 
iv)  There had not been a high take up of having an exit interview, although these 

were not currently compulsory.  A number of reasons were given for staff 
leaving, for example the stress associated with the job, progression, personal 
reasons and travel, and for some it was financial as other neighbouring 
authorities offered a much higher salary than Leicestershire was able to 
provide. 

 
The Cabinet Lead Member reiterated that every effort was being made to sustain or 
improve worker satisfaction and regular visits took place to the Locality Teams to discuss 
their issues and concerns.  He also commented on the success of the pride in practice 
events in Melton.  He stated that there was an improving picture around recruitment and 
retention and the work continuing to be undertaken was reassuring.  The Lead Member 
also sought the support of the Committee around the way he would be proposing to fund 
different areas of the department in the budget. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

28. Leicestershire's Response to Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (Six Month Update).  
 

9



 
 

 

6 

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
which provided an overview of the work and progress of the Child Sexual Exploitation 
(CSE), Missing and Trafficked Hub.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is 
filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 
i)  The multi-agency team now had a wider brief and it was questioned whether 

there was a risk that CSE work would get lost.  It was reported that when the 
work and training around criminal exploitation was rolled out, the number of 
sexual exploitation referrals had decreased and there had been joint referrals 
for criminal exploitation and sexual exploitation.  However, these were closely 
linked, particularly in terms of recruitment.  The service was trying to offer a 
trusted professional relationship with the child so that they had somewhere to 
go and someone to talk to. 

 
ii)  In response to a query, there had been an increase in male referrals due to 

the roll out of ‘Breck’s Last Game’ which was a short film targeted at boys.  For 
child criminal exploitation, the majority of referrals had come from the Youth 
Offending Service and had also been for boys.  However, the majority of 
referrals received overall had been for females. 

 
iii)  Details were provided around Operation Lionheart and the learning from this.  

Multi-agency partnership meetings continued to take place in relation to 
families and children that had been affected by the enforcement.  There were 
a number of vulnerable adults who could potentially receive a lengthy custodial 
sentence for intent to supply Class A drugs and it was felt that these could be 
seen as victims of exploitation in the same way as the children and young 
people.  Consideration was being given to a public health model in relation to 
the violence reduction unit being developed in Leicestershire to look at earlier 
opportunities for intervention and awareness raising, particularly around 
preventing the exploitation and isolation of vulnerable families involved in 
criminal activity.  It was felt that the work undertaken through Operation 
Lionheart should be shared with all Community Safety Partnerships so that it 
could be disseminated locally and videos were now being produced for 
localities to show the work being undertaken.  The Safer Communities 
Strategy Board had previously received a presentation on Operation Lionheart 
and county lines and the Community Safety Partnership representatives on 
this Board would feed back the information in their local areas. 

 
iv)  A comment was raised by a member that some local Community Safety 

Partnerships had previously set aside some money to help local schools pay 
to visit the Warning Zone.  It was noted that the Police and Crime 
Commissioner had committed some funding for this, and work had been taking 
place to develop a zone on criminal exploitation and to include key 
safeguarding messages around child criminal exploitation and emotional 
wellbeing in the existing zones.  The Warning Zone also visited older children 
(aged 10-14) to promote its messages and discussions were taking place with 
safeguarding leads in further education settings to provide a presentation.  A 
suite of slides had also been provided to Regional CSE leads and this gave 
them the opportunity to include data relevant to their local area. 

 

10



 
 

 

7 

v)  The service had been successful in the prevention, identification and pursuit of 
perpetrators of CSE and retained information around successful prosecutions.  
It was noted that Leicestershire County Council had been successful in 
obtaining criminal compensation for 18 young people who had been victims, 
and this would make a significant difference to their long term life choices.   

 
vi)  The number of reported missing episodes had increased significantly at the 

end of 2017/18, and this could partly be attributed to improvements in the 
electronic reporting system as there were more features to identify a missing 
episode.  A further development was the holding of multi-agency strategy 
meetings if a young person went missing three times over a 90 day period.  
The biggest cohort of missing continued to be out of area children.  In terms of 
children who went missing once, proportionately this had begun to reduce as 
had children missing from home.  Over the year, the majority had been those 
missing from home, not from care. 

 
vii) A member commented that, in some instances, it was necessary for adults 

and professional to change their perception of the children who were involved 
in criminal activity, and emphasis was given to looking at the child first and the 
criminal activity second. 

 
viii) In relation to gypsy and traveller provision, it had proved to be very difficult to 

relay messages around criminal exploitation and sexual exploitation and 
specific neighbourhood police and health colleagues had been used who were 
familiar to the community.  There was a general suspicion around the 
discussions and a different approach via social media around staying safe 
online was being attempted. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the report be noted; 

 
b) That a further update be received in six months. 

 
29. Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
presented the Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer with regard to 
children in care and those subject to child protection planning.  The report evaluated the 
extent to which Leicestershire County Council had fulfilled its responsibilities to children 
for the period 1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 
12’ is filed with these minutes.   
 
The Committee welcomed the report and was pleased to note the contribution that the 
service had made to the improvements in the department as a whole. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

30. Quarter 1 2019/20 Performance Report.  
 

11



 
 

 

8 

The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive and Director of Children 
and Family Services which presented an update of the Children and Family Services 
Department’s performance for the period April to June 2019 (Quarter 1).  A copy of the 
report marked ‘Agenda Item 13’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

i)  The number of families recorded as receiving targeted Early Help during 
quarter 1 was lower than the previous quarter.  However, there had been a 
change in the way that the data was recorded and this did not therefore 
represent a reduction in the number of families worked with.  This would 
continue to be looked at, but progress towards the payment by results target 
remained good. 

 
ii)  It was noted that the rate of re-offending per young offender had increased and 

was in relation to a very small group of young people who had committed a 
significant number of offences. 

 
iii)  A specific comment was raised in relation to Church of England Key Stage 2 

data.  This suggested that 74% of children in single academy trusts and 64% in 
maintained schools had achieved the reading, writing and maths attainment.  It 
was queried whether the expertise in single academy trusts could be used to 
support the maintained school sector more effectively.  A strength in the 
Leicestershire system was the sharing of expertise around school improvement 
and ensuring that this expertise was targeted effectively.  It was stated that the 
capacity within the department for school improvement was no longer there, 
although it did have a significant role in facilitating this and would support the 
use of expertise in the single academy trusts for the benefit of all. 

 
iv)  There were proposed changes to the Ofsted Inspection Framework to 

reintroduce the inspection of schools that had previously been rated as 
outstanding.  This was largely due to the fact that a number of outstanding 
schools which had been re-inspected had been found to be requiring 
improvement.  The more frequent targeting of schools to be inspected was 
welcomed.  The department had developed a team of Education Effectiveness 
partners to work with all schools, and the more vulnerable schools would be 
identified to benefit from this expertise in the first instance. 

 
The Committee agreed that the performance was very positive and demonstrated stability 
in the department. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

31. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 5 November 2019 
at 2.00pm. 
 
 

12



 
 

 

9 

2.00 – 4.15pm CHAIRMAN 
03 September 2019 

 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 5 NOVEMBER 2019 

 
PROGRESS REPORT: OFSTED RECOMMENDATIONS AS PART OF 
THE OFSTED CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT ACTION PLAN 2017 - 

2020 - THE ROAD TO EXCELLENCE 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee of progress made against 

the Ofsted Continuous Improvement Action Plan (OCIAP) in responding to the 
Single Inspection of Children’s Social Care in November 2016. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee has previously 

received a copy of the Ofsted Continuous Improvement Action Plan, developed 
following the Ofsted inspection. A progress report was presented at its meeting 
on 4th June 2019. 

 
3. At that time, the Committee welcomed the success of the recruitment and 

retention of permanent staff but recognised that further work was required to 
improve the situation further.  The Committee agreed that it would continue to 
monitor progress by receiving regular updates on recruitment and retention.  

Most recently an update was provided in September 2019.   
 

4. The Committee recognised the progress that had been achieved in that 15 of 
the 17 actions had been rated green and that two remained amber with further 
work to be undertaken.  

 
5. The underpinning action plan has been used to summarise the evidence made 

against the Ofsted recommendations and is attached as Appendix A to the 
report. This appendix is focused on the amber rated actions which, from 
previous feedback, have been identified as the key areas for oversight by this 
Committee. 

 
Background 
 

15 Agenda Item 9



6. The report is based on work undertaken through “The Road to Excellence”, 
which is Children’s Social Care’s (CSC) Continuous Improvement Action Plan 
for 2017 to 2020.   

7. The OCIAP addresses the Ofsted findings by providing a strategic vision for 

improvement that is founded on four aims: 

i. Being a Learning Organisation 

ii. Embedding Excellent Practice 

iii. Taking the Right Action at the Right Time 

iv. Developing Policy and Performance  

 
8. The action plan at Appendix A uses a RAG rating to indicate progress.  Green 

is showing good progress and moving towards completion, amber is on track to 
deliver in a longer agreed timescale and red signifies areas requiring further 
focused work. The ratings provide a judgement of what evidence exists to 
demonstrate the departmental response to a recommendation.  This evidence 
is largely taken from performance, business intelligence data and findings from 
quality assurance audits that are used together to monitor the progress of the 
OCIAP alongside staff input. 

 

9. The recommendations vary in scale and scope and therefore some areas, 
especially those that started at a lower baseline, require longer timescales to 
produce demonstrable evidence of improvement. This was the reason for a 
four-year plan to drive improvement. Progress is monitored via a weekly senior 
manager meeting and a monthly meeting of senior and middle managers that is 
chaired by the Assistant Director (Children’s Social Care). 

 

10. The summary of ratings as of 16 September 2019 was:  
 

 15 recommendations are rated Green 

 2 recommendations are rated Amber. Work to progress these 
recommendations is detailed later in the report. 

 0 recommendations are rated Red  
 
11. On 9 September 2019, Ofsted notified the Department that they would be 

undertaking a full inspection of the Department under the Inspection of Local 
Authority Children’s Services (ILACS). The inspection concluded on 4 October 
2019 and the final report will be published on 4 November 2019.  

 
12. The progress against the OCIAP at the time of the Ofsted ILACS inspection 

was presented to Ofsted as part of the Self Evaluation Framework with 
supporting evidence. 

 
Summary of Continuous Improvement Plan recommendations judged to be 

Amber 

 

13. Two of the actions remain an amber RAG rating.   

 

16



 Recommendation 2; Ensure that management oversight of practice 

fully complies with supervision policy requirements and supports 

effective case progression and case decision making. 

 Recommendation 6; Ensure consistency in social work assessment, so 
that they are sufficiently in depth, are informed by good-quality 
chronologies, reflect the needs and identities of individual children, are 
updated regularly to take account of children’s needs and 
circumstances and lead to outcome focuses plans. 

 

14. Full detail of the work being undertaken on the amber areas is contained in 

Appendix A but is summarised as follows: 

 

 Key activity led by Practice Excellence Team to further develop work to 

embed the supervision policy (launched January 2019) and enhance the 

consistency in meeting standards for supervision requirements.  This aims 

to assure that supervisions are consistently reflective and of good quality. 

 Dip sample audits of supervision records by manager and worker to 

consider the frequency, quality and recording of supervision to inform 

further improvement work. Currently, SMT receive monthly management 

reports on frequency of supervisions by worker. Further work is 

undergoing to deliver reports to identify the sessions on a child basis. 

 Work to evaluate the completion and impact of the first improvement 

campaign – which was focused on Assessment.  This includes further dip 

sampling of assessments across a range of interventions to judge impact, 

evaluation of the toolkit and how services have responded.  This learning 

will inform the delivery of the next campaign focused on planning from 

November 2019. Performance data demonstrates the impact of timeliness 

of assessment. 

 Further refinement of the case audit process completed in September to 

focus on impact across the range of interventions from referral to planning 

and manager oversight to better measure the quality of work, including 

compliance with key practice standards and making a difference for 

children. A thematic audit is due to take place in November 2019. 

 Work to develop the Signs of Safety approach within core documents and 

processes within Mosaic 

 
Consultations 

 
15. The Road to Excellence is a departmental continuous improvement plan so has 

naturally included a wide range of Children and Family Services staff in its 

development. Engagement with partner agencies has primarily been through 

the Local Safeguarding Children Board where partners have fed in their views 

of the Plan. 

 

17



Resource Implications 
 
16. Resource implications of responding to the Ofsted inspection have already 

been agreed through the growth bid.   

 
Conclusion 

 

17. The progress made against the Ofsted Continuous Improvement Action Plan is 

presented to the Committee. The Department is confident that the remaining 

amber actions will be completed in the timescales set out in the Road to 

Excellence. 

 

Background Papers 

 

The Ofsted report: Leicestershire Inspection of services for children in need of help 

and protection, children looked after and care leavers. November to December 2016 

http://ow.ly/16uB30gfp7d 

 

The Road to Excellence (Plan on a Page) 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s131465/Ofsted%20funding%20Appx%20A%20-
%20Plan%20on%20a%20Page%20CIP.pdf 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 

None 

 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 

18. Responding to the findings of the Ofsted inspection will improve services for all 

groups of children and families. 

 

List of Appendices 

 

Appendix A – Progress against the Ofsted recommendations as part of the Ofsted 

Continuous Improvement Action Plan 2017-2020 – The Road to Excellence 

(AMBER) 

 

Officer(s) to Contact 

 

Jane Moore, Director Children and Family Services 

Tel:   0116 3057441  Email Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk  

Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director Children’s Social Care  
Tel:  0116 30 3055479 Email: Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk 

18

http://ow.ly/16uB30gfp7d
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s131465/Ofsted%20funding%20Appx%20A%20-%20Plan%20on%20a%20Page%20CIP.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s131465/Ofsted%20funding%20Appx%20A%20-%20Plan%20on%20a%20Page%20CIP.pdf
mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk


    5 
 

 

 

     

Progress against Ofsted recommendations as part of the continuous improvement action plan 2017-2020- The Road to Excellence. 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee November 2018 

Ref. 
Ofsted 
Recommendation 

Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet to 
update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or by 
month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2019 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

2. Ensure that 
management 
oversight of practice 
fully complies with 
supervision policy 
requirements and 
supports effective 
case progression and 
decision-making. 

A 

Case decision processes 
consistently demonstrates robust 
management oversight.  Evidence 
of good clear plans for children. 

 

Measure 

Weekly and monthly performance 
reports show good performance in 
timeliness of supervisions by 
individual worker. 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome of case file audits are 
graded good or outstanding for 
management decision and 
oversight. 

 

 

 

 

 

2018 - 75% 
meeting 
standard 
(10 out of 
12 SV in 
year) 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

90.1% 
monthly (July 
2019) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

54% - impact 
Audit Sept 
2019 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

75% 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

85% 

 

 

 

 

The frequency of supervision has been monitored 
monthly and during 2018 supervision compliance has 
been within acceptable tolerances with manager’s 
chasing up individual outliers.  

Refreshed Supervision policy has been launched 
January 2019.  

Learning programme for Senior Practitioners and 
Team Managers to develop supervisory skills and 
competence has been delivered by Research in 
Practice in December 2018. 

Fidelity to SoS have targeted workshops on key 
elements of SoS, the team provide case consultations 
and support the running of PODs, with a focus on First 
Response. 

Key Decision Discussions implemented and embedded 
across localities to improve management oversight of 
complex cases.  

Aspiring Managers Programme launched January 2019 

Management oversight remains a key part of all 
auditing activity  

Child Sexual Abuse in Family Environment and 
Moderation Learning audit findings there is strong 
management oversight of cases with timely decision 
making and oversight of key documents. However, the 
quality of supervision records has been inconsistent. 
Supervision records have not always been reflective 
and analytical or limited evidence of professional 
challenge where necessary. For the management 
oversight section 67% of cases were graded meets 
good or above. 

Leadership & Management questions in annual health 
check 2018 (PET Team) 
 
Ofsted focused visit feedback managers in FRCD ‘know 
the service well and staff understand the journey and 
ambition for children’. 

Reviewed and refreshed model for 
case auditing agreed and launched 
based on ‘what good looks like’, 
measuring against practice standards 
in May 2019 and further refined in 
September 2019 to look at impact of 
practice including impact of manager 
oversight on the quality of provision 
to children with balance of 
compliance and quality standards 
embedded. 

 

During November 2019 we will have 
developed a methodology for 
evaluating the impact of the 
supervision policy and the extent to 
which the quality of supervision is 
reflective.   A dip sample of 
supervision was completed in 
October 2019 and learning from this 
will inform further improvement 
work focused on the supervision 
policy, compliance and impact in Q3 
and Q4 19/20. 

 

Dip sample audits of supervision 

records by manager and worker to 

consider the frequency, quality and 

recording of supervision to inform 

further improvement work. Learning 

from completed audit to be 

evaluated in October 2019. 

Development of managerial report 

that will provide the detail of 

individual child discussed in 

supervision rather than supervision 

by worker alone.  

Head of Service 
Safeguarding 
and 
Performance – 
Kay Fletcher 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Head of Service 
Practice 
Excellence – 
Anita Gurry 

 

 

 

 

Head of Service 
Safeguarding 
and 
Performance – 
Kay Fletcher 

Appendix A 

19



    6 
 

6. Ensure consistency in 
social work 
assessments, so that 
they are sufficiently in 
depth, are informed 
by good-quality 
chronologies, reflect 
the needs and 
identities of individual 
children, are updated 
regularly to take 
account of children’s 
changing needs and 
circumstances and 
lead to outcome-
focused plans. 

A 

 

Performance reports evidence 
consistent use of: 

 chronologies, 

 assessment,  

 outcomes focused plans 

Measure 
Quality audit demonstrates that all 
cases have an up-to-date 
chronology, assessment and 
outcome-focused plan. 

Chronology  

Good quality plans 

 

Single Assessment Framework are 
completed in a timely way and are 
of a good standard 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

66.3% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

86.4% -Sept 
19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

85% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

85% 

EIP2 funding for SOS awarded to LCC in Sept 2017 and 
since that time real focus on role out and 
implementation of SOS. 

A recent audit (September 19) in First Response 
demonstrated that progress is being made in the 
number of cases having assessments graded good 
overall.  

Chronologies and quality of plans audited as part of 
the themed audits running from May to November. 
The impact of chronologies has been seen in relation 
to the uplift of care plans and subsequent decision 
making 

Social Work Conference took place in July 2019 with a 
focus on improving practice; getting it right for 
children and a review of components of good practice 

Implementation of SOS forms in mosaic are 
progressing with aim to complete by the end of 2019.  

Learning sets in Manager’s meetings focus on SOS to 
support implementation of new forms between April 
– end of 2019 

Campaign style approach to practice improvement 
launched with first theme around assessments 
(Mar19) and planning management oversight / voice 
will be launched in November 2019 

SOS in Mosaic has been purchased 
and forms will be reviewed from 
April 2019 aiming to complete for 
implementation by end of 2019. 

Undertake quality assurance to 
ensure that the Practice standards 
are supporting improved quality of 
assessments across the service by 
refinement of the case audit process. 

Work to improve the depth of 
practice is ongoing and will be 
supported by Practice Excellence 
Team  

Over the next 3 – 6 months a focus 
on quality of assessment, planning 
ahead with management oversight 
will be driven by the Senior 
Leadership Team. 

Work to evaluate the completion 
and impact of the first improvement 
campaign – which was focused on 
Assessment.  This includes further 
dip sample of assessments across a 
range of interventions to judge 
impact, Evaluation of the toolkit and 
how services have responded.  This 
learning will inform the delivery of 
the next campaign focused on 
planning management oversight and 
voice from November 2019. 

Review and refresh social work 
learning offer to ensure new areas 
are incorporated e.g. motivational 
interviewing, understanding parents 
with personality disorder 

Work is ongoing through the Data 
KLoE meeting and team action plans 
(FRCD) to improve timeliness of 
assessments. 

 

Head of Service 
Practice 
Excellence – 
Moira O’Hagan 

Head of Service 
Fieldwork – 
Gareth Dakin 

Head of Service 
Fostering and 
Adoption / 
Children in Care 
– Nicci Collins 

Head of Service 
Disabled 
Children Service 
– Tom Common 

 
Head of Service 
Practice 
Excellence – 
Moira O’Hagan 

 

 

 

20



 

 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE – 5 NOVEMBER 2019 
 

OVERVIEW OF SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES 
IMPROVEMENTS 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES 
 
 

Purpose of report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Children and Families 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a summary of the national and local 
context relating to Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) along 
with an overview of the plans to continuously develop and improve services to 
support children and families who are experiencing SEND. 

  
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  

 
2. In December 2018 the Cabinet authorised the consultation on the High Needs 

Block Development Plan including proposed development of SEND provision 
across the County. 

 
3. In May 2019 the Cabinet was advised of the outcome of the public consultation 

and authorised the Director of Children and Family Services to agree a shortlist 
of potential academy trusts to be recommended to the Regional Schools 
Commissioner (RSC) to operate the new 80-place Communication and 
Interaction school to be established in Barwell from September 2020. The RSC 
has recently confirmed that the Dorothy Goodman School Academy Trust has 
been selected to run the school.    

 
4. In October 2019 the Cabinet was advised of the progress of the high needs 

development plan and authorised the Director of Children and Family Services 
to apply to the Secretary of state for approval of the transfer of up to 0.5% of 
the Schools Block funding to the High Needs Block should it not be agreed by 
Schools Forum and after necessary consultation to progress the transfer of 
Oakfield Short Stay school to new locations in north and south Leicestershire. 
The Director was also authorised, following consultation with the Cabinet Lead 
Member for Children and Families, to agree a short list of potential academy 
trusts to be recommended to the DfE for a decision. 

 
5. The SEND Code of Practice is the statutory guidance that sets out how Local 

Authorities and other organisations (such as education and social care services 

21 Agenda Item 10



 

as well as others such as health services and relevant housing and 
employment services) must work with and support children and young people 
with special education needs and disabilities.   

 
6. The 0-25 Code of Practice (2015) identified four broad areas of special 

educational need and support: 
 

a. Communication and interaction; 
b. Cognition and learning; 
c. Social, emotional and mental health; and 
d. Sensory and/or physical needs. 

 
7. Therefore, services that are developed to support children with SEND must be 

focused on these four broad areas.  
 

Background 
 
8. Local authorities have legal duties to identify and assess the special 

educational needs of children and young people for whom they are responsible.  
Local Authorities become responsible for a child or young person in their area 
when they become aware that the child or young person has or may have 
special educational needs.  

 
9. The Children and Families Act (2014) introduced some significant reforms in 

relation to SEND.  It sought to offer simpler, improved and consistent help for 
children and young people with special education needs and disabilities. 

 
Key Changes within the Reforms 

 
10. Replacing Statement of SEN with Education Health and Care Plans: One of the 

major changes introduced by the Children and Families Act (2014) was the 
replacement of the Statement system with new Education, Health and Care 
Plans (EHCP).  EHCPs were also extended to include young people aged 25 to 
support them into adulthood. 

 
11. Personal Budgets: Parents of children who have an EHCP now have the right 

to a personal budget for their support.  A personal budget is an amount of 
money provided to the family to enable them to directly purchase all or some of 
the provision set out in an EHCP.  By having a say in the way this budget is 
used, a parent/carer or young person can control elements of their support.  
However, the local authority has a duty to oversee the appropriate use of these 
financial resources and should put in place mechanisms to monitor it. 

 
12. Services Working Together: Children and young people with SEN need well co-

ordinated, coherent support across education, health and social care to help 
them achieve their agreed outcomes.  Under the reforms, local authorities and 
other key agencies are required to link up and jointly plan services for disabled 
children and young people – an approach known as joint commissioning.  

 

22



 

13. Birth – 25 years: The Act extended the SEN system from birth to 25 years, 
which supports young people into further education, employment and 
independent living.  

 
14. Local Offer: Every council is now required to publish a detailed directory of what 

local support there is available for children and young people with SEND – 
called The Local Offer.  The Local Offer provides clear and accurate 
information about local education, health and care services. This seeks to make 
it easier to choose and access the services that children and families need.   

 
15. Engaging Parents, Children and Young People: Local authorities must ensure 

that parents/carers, children and young people are involved in discussions and 
decisions about every aspect of their care and support, planning outcomes and 
agreeing services and activities to meet those outcomes.  They must also take 
steps to ensure that parents and/or young people are actively involved in 
contributing to assessments, planning and reviewing EHCPs.  In addition, Early 
Years providers, schools and colleges should fully engage parents and/or 
young people with SEN when drawing up plans and policies that affect them. 

 
16. Resolving Disputes: Local authorities must now make it clear how 

disagreements will be resolved and how any complaints will be dealt with.  The 
guidance suggests that where appropriate, the local authority should 
commission an independent disagreement resolution service that can be made 
available when investigating some complaints. 

  
17. Against this backdrop of significant change, local authorities across the country 

have faced challenges in responding to these reforms given the requirement to 
work with a broader age-range of children and young people and with the 
introduction of EHCPs. 

 
Leicestershire 
 
18. Whilst Leicestershire has performed particularly well in relation to the 

conversion of Statements to EHCPs, and timeliness in completing EHCPs, the 
area has experienced similar challenges as those experienced across the 
country.  This has been particularly apparent in the increasing numbers of 
EHCPs and the use of independent provision that have put significant pressure 
on the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  EHCPs have 
increased by 52% over the last six years: 
 

 2014 
 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

EHCPs 2772 2770 2995 3350 3703 4222 
% Increase 
from 
previous 
Year  

 

-0.8% -0.1% +8.1% +11.9% +10.5% +14% 

 

23



 

19. In response to these challenges and to build on the good performance in the 
county, the Children and Families Department has developed a robust High 
Needs Development Plan.  The Plan was agreed by the Cabinet in October 
2018 and significant progress has already been made with further work to do 
over the next three years to sustain improvements and address the pressures 
on the High Needs Block budget. 

 
20. The plan is overseen by a programme board, chaired by the Assistant Director 

for Education and Early Help, and regular reports are presented to the Children 
and Families Departmental Management Team. 

 
21. The plan is designed around three key areas of work:- 
 
Sufficiency 
 
22. The High Needs Development Plan enables the development of new provision 

as well as the expansion of existing provision in mainstream and special 
schools.  The fundamental driver for change is to support children to be 
educated locally in inclusive settings that meet their assessed needs.  

 
23. Over the next four years it is envisaged that SEND provision in Leicestershire 

will be increased significantly with new provision put in place across the 
County, enabling children to access this closer to home.   

 
24. The initial sufficiency plan for SEND provision proposed an additional 628 

places comprising 143 places available from September 2019, 310 places from 
September 2020 and the remaining 175 places from September 2021 (this 
includes the development of a new 125-place area Special School).  Two 
further schemes have since been added to the plan to provide an additional 30 
places to give 658 overall. 

 
25. The extra places represent an additional 190 places for units on mainstream 

school sites, and an extra 468 places for special schools (including 3 free 
schools and longer term, an area special school). 

 
26. The programme has made good progress throughout the summer and so far, 

all the new provisions have been delivered to target dates.  However, there has 
been some uncertainty about the delivery of the two 50-place Social and 
Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) free schools forming part of the capital 
programme.    

 
27. At its meeting on 22nd October 2019, the Cabinet agreed to authorise the 

Director of Children and Family Services to, after the necessary consultation, 
progress with the transfer of Oakfield Short Stay School to new locations in 
north and south Leicestershire.  This means that the Director of Children and 
Family Services, following consultation with the Lead Member for Children and 
Families, can seek expressions of interest from Trusts to operate a new 50-
place SEMH school on the vacant Oakfield site in Blaby, with a view to opening 
in September 2020. 

 

24



 

28. The capital programme currently comprises 31 schemes, 11 of which started to 
admit pupils from September 2019 and a further 5 are expected to do so by 
Easter 2020. In terms of the new schools under development, the 80-place 
Communication and Interaction school in Barwell is expected to open in 
September 2020 and the new SEMH school could be open on the Oakfield site 
by September 2020 also. 

 
29. The approved MTFS allocation for this work is £22.3m and will be reviewed 

under the process for the 2020/21 MTFS refresh. 
 

Commissioning 
 

30. It is fully acknowledged that the County Council needs to take a ‘whole 
systems’ approach to managing the increased demand on SEND services.  A 
large majority of children with an identified special educational need will have 
these needs met in a mainstream school, without the need for an EHCP.  To 
that end, the local authority is working with schools, other education providers 
and partner agencies to support effective practice in the school-based ‘SEN 
Support’ Stage.  This includes the development of a comprehensive SEND 
Handbook and toolkit that will be launched across Leicestershire in January 
2020.  This will include: 

 
a. Local Guidance on Best Endeavours and Reasonable Adjustments, 

with supporting tools to help schools and others to meet their 
responsibilities in a cost-effective way. 

b. A checklist of actions that schools and other providers should consider 
prior to getting to the point of requesting an EHCP Needs Assessment, 
together with advice and sources of support around best practice (for 
example the Graduated Response, working with parents, advice on 
‘low incidence’ needs, where to get outreach support from specialist 
providers). 

c. A checklist for Governors and School Leaders about effective 
arrangements within education settings. 

d. Guidance on funding within Leicestershire to support SEND (including 
top-up funding). 
 

31. At the same time, the County Council continues to invest in the capacity of its 
special support services and to develop effective processes to support schools 
and other providers in their work, channelling the expertise present in each 
geographical locality (area special schools, resourced provisions, health and 
social care) to support children and families in mainstream provision as early as 
possible. 

 
32. The County Council also continues to work with partners in the Clinical 

Commissioning Groups to identify joint planning and commissioning priorities 
and opportunities to further strengthen this area of work to better support 
children and families where there are identified health needs. 

 
33. The Leicestershire Parent Carer Forum continues to be well engaged with the 

County Council and its partners in co-producing strategies, policies and key 

25



 

pieces of development work such as the review of the approach to EHCPs, the 
Local Offer and the progression of the Neuro-Development Pathway. 

 
Inclusion 
 
34. A review of the various categories (for example children missing education, 

elective home education, children with medical needs, information and advice) 
resulted in all these services being structured into one single Inclusion Service.  
This will go live in November 2019 and will provide a single point of contact for 
settings and schools through which they can raise challenges and seek advice 
and guidance with regard to specific children as early as possible, with the 
focus on including them, wherever possible, in mainstream education. 

 
35. This restructure, along with the oversight of the Oakfield Outreach support and 

the development of the Secondary Education Inclusion Partnership, has 
already enabled an increase in the early identification of need and deployment 
of the right service at the right time for children.  This is reducing unnecessary 
escalation to exclusion before other avenues of support have been explored.  
Leicestershire continues to have low rates of permanent exclusion when 
compared to national averages.  

 
36. Support is being given to mainstream schools and settings to include children 

with SEMH but lack the resources and skills to accommodate their needs.  The 
Inclusion Service has developed an integrated support model via teams in Early 
Years’ Oakfield outreach, and the Secondary Education Inclusion Partnerships 
(SEIPs) to help support schools to manage young people with SEMH needs 
within mainstream schools.  

 
37. The increased support is a mixture of specialist advice via a range of options 

and services such as telephone advice directly from the Inclusion Service, 
multi-agency inclusion forums where schools can gain case specific advice on 
more complex cases and direct support from skilled practitioners working with 
children in each educational setting as well as directly upskilling school staff.  
These staff are based within Early Years, Oakfield’s Outreach Offer, SEIPs and 
the Inclusion Service so that specialisms around each area of practice can be 
maintained.  

 
38. In order to ensure strong progress is made with the High Needs Development 

Plan a number of additional measures are also being pursued including 
exploring the Transfer between the Schools Block and High Needs Block of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). 

 
39. The County Council wishes to transfer money between the Schools Block and 

the High Needs Block of the DSG.  Local authorities are able to: 
 

- Transfer up to 0.5% of the gross Schools Block to High Needs 
following consultation with schools and the approval of the Schools 
Forum.  Should the School’s Forum not approve a transfer, 
approval can be sought from the Secretary of State.  

 

26



 

- Transfer more than 0.5% of the gross Schools Block with the 
approval of the Secretary of State. 

 
Consultation 

 
40. In proposing a transfer, the Council must demonstrate the impact on individual 

school budgets.  Data required to do this has been provided by the Department 
for Education (DfE) and therefore consultation with schools will commence in 
the week commencing 21 October 2019 with a closing date of 1 November 
2019. 

 
41. The timescale for consultation is short. Consultation could not begin until 

modelling was completed on the detailed indicative school data released by the 
DfE on 11 October. The outcome of the consultation will be considered by the 
Schools Forum on 6 November 2019. Should the Schools Forum not approve 
the transfer a request for a decision from the Secretary of State needs to be 
submitted by 28 November 2019.    

 
Resource Implications 

 
42. The cumulative deficit on the High Needs Block is forecast to peak at circa 

£13.5m in 2021/22.  Given the scale of the potential overspend and cumulative 
deficit a whole-organisation focus will need to be maintained on the High Needs 
Development Plan.  The issues being faced in Leicestershire are mirrored 
elsewhere in the country.  A recent Society of County Treasurers Survey 
indicated that over 90% of County Councils were overspending in this area with 
the total deficit exceeding £120m.  It is likely that a number of counties will end 
the current financial year with deficits of over £10m. 

 
43. In order to deliver the change required to implement the High Needs 

Development Plan, revenue investment has been made alongside the capital 
investment. 

 
44. The total projected cost of the revenue investment is £2.8m with a further 

£6.3m required to bring the new places into commission over the period of the 
plan.  The MTFS makes provision of £22.3m and a further £10m will be 
required for the longer-term development of a new area special school when 
required.  The funding strategy for the programme consists of a mixture of 
funding sources including Basic Needs Grant, a bid to the DfE for funding a 
Free School, capital receipts and local authority Capital. 

 
45. The early development of a new SEMH school could add further savings of 

£0.5m in 2020/21 rising to a full year impact of £1.8m in 2022/23.  This will 
reduce the overall DSG deficit. 

 
46. The High Needs Block Development Plan savings are in addition to those 

contained within the Council’s current Medium Term Financial Strategy and will 
support the delivery of savings by investing in local provision to accommodate 
current and future demand. 

 

27



 

47. The Schools Funding Formula, which largely follows the National Funding 
Formula, was approved by the Cabinet in January 2018. 

 
Conclusions 
 
48. Leicestershire has responded well to the SEND reforms introduced in 2014 and 

services are well placed to respond to and support children and families who 
are experiencing issues relating to SEND. 

 
49. In addition to the statutory services and other service arrangements in place to 

support children with SEND, the local authority has a robust development plan 
in place with senior officer oversight to further improve and develop services to 
improve outcomes for children and young people with SEND.  The High Needs 
Development Plan is responding to pressures on the High Needs Block of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant and to the increasing numbers of EHCPs in the 
system.  These are challenges that are being experienced across the country. 

 
50. The plan is supported by significant revenue and capital investment by the 

County Council, particularly in relation to the provision of high quality education 
places across Leicestershire for children with SEND. 

 
51. The Committee is asked to comment on the report. 
 
Background Papers 
 
SEND Code of Practice. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/398815/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf 
 
Report to the Cabinet – 18 December 2018 – Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities Provision – High Needs Block Development Plan 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5793&Ver=4  
 
Report to the Cabinet – 24 May 2019 – Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
Provision – Results of Consultation on the Development of New Provisions (High 
Needs Block Development Plan) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5603&Ver=4  

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications   
 
52. There is no requirement to include an EHRI assessment as the report does not 

propose any changes to the Council’s policies, procedures, functions and 
services.  There are no equality or human rights implications arising from the 
report. 

 
Other Relevant Impact Assessments 

28

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/398815/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/398815/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5793&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5603&Ver=4


 

 
None 

 
Appendices  
 
None 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name: Paula Sumner 
Telephone: 0116 305 1454 
Email: Paula.Sumner@Leics.gov.uk 
 

29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE  
 
5 NOVEMBER 2019 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING STRATEGY 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES 
 
 

Purpose of report  
 
1. The purpose of the report is to present the draft Corporate Parenting Strategy 

and to seek the views of the Committee as part of the consultation process.  

  
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 
2. The Corporate Parenting Strategy is the framework for the role of local 

authorities and their relevant partners (as defined in section 10 of the Children 
Act 2004) in the application of the corporate parenting principles as set out in 
section 1 of the Children and Social Work Act 2017. It should be read and 
applied alongside the Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 2: 
care planning, placement and case review and The Children Act 1989 
Guidance and Regulations Volume 3: planning transition to adulthood for care 
leavers. 

 
3. Local authorities in England need to have regard to the 2013 Statutory 

guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the Director of Children’s Services 
and the Lead Member for Children’s Service’s. This guidance describes how 
those roles set the tone for the local authority to be an effective corporate 
parent. 

 
Background 
 
4. Leicestershire County Council is currently the corporate parent to 610 children 

and young people.  As a corporate parent, the County Council has a collective 
responsibility to be a good parent to children and young people in its care and 
is expected to do what any responsible parent would do for their children. 

 
5. Leicestershire has a strong corporate parenting ethos which recognises that 

the care provided for children is not just about keeping them safe.  It recognises 
the importance of stability for children and the ambition to secure emotional 

31 Agenda Item 11



 

 

attachment, physical stability and long-term commitment to children.  It also 
aims that all children in care are able to receive access to appropriate, stable 
education placements and positive educational experiences. 

 
6. When a child comes into care, the local authority becomes the Corporate 

Parent. Put simply, the term 'Corporate Parent' means the collective 
responsibility of the local authority, elected members, employees, and partner 
agencies for providing the best possible care and safeguarding for the children 
who are looked after by Leicestershire County Council. 
 

7. There are seven corporate parenting principles introduced by the Children and 
Social Work Act 2017, which comprise of seven needs that local authorities in 
England must have regard to whenever they exercise a function in relation to 
looked-after children or care leavers. The seven corporate principles are:  
 

 To act in the best interest, and promote the physical and mental health 
and wellbeing, of those children and young people. 

 To encourage those children and young people to express their views, 
wishes and feelings. 

 To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children 
and young people. 

 To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the 
best use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant 
partners. 

 To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for 
those children and young people. 

 For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their 
home lives, relationships, and education or work. 

 To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and 
independent living. 

 
 

8. The corporate parenting principles are intended to secure a better approach to 
fulfilling existing functions in relation to looked after children and care leavers 
and for the local authority to facilitate, as far as possible, secure, nurturing, and 
positive experiences for looked after children and young people and enable 
positive outcomes for them. The seven principles are embedded in Our 
Promise to children in care and care leavers, which has been signed up to by 
the Leicestershire County Council, Elected Members and a range of partner 
agencies.  

 
9. The draft Corporate Parenting Strategy (attached as Appendix A to this report) 

is Leicestershire’s commitment to inspire, support and enable children in care 
and care leavers to be ambitious and successful, and outlines the 
responsibilities of Leicestershire County Council as a corporate parent to its 
children in care and care leavers.  The Strategy provides the foundation for 
how Leicestershire will deliver high quality services to children in care and care 
leavers.  It highlights the current position, future ambitions and how 
Leicestershire intends to develop further to achieve aspirations as a corporate 
parent. The Strategy outlines the key principles and expectations that provide 

32



 

 

the framework for a cohesive and effective corporate parenting response. In 
addition to being a driver for Leicestershire’s commitment to inspire, support 
and enable ambitious goals and success for children, it also provides a 
structure for accountability and opportunity for challenge. 

 
10. A Scrutiny Review Panel, comprising five elected members, undertook a review 

of corporate parenting at the beginning of 2019.  This time limited task and 
finish group considered, amongst other things, extending the role of elected 
members as corporate parents.  The Panel had supported the refresh of the 
Corporate Parenting Strategy and asked that it included a clear role description 
for elected members to fulfil their responsibilities as a corporate parent for 
children and young people in the care of the local authority and care leavers up 
to the age of 25.  The Panel also agreed that a member champion model would 
be trialled in three areas – education, training and work, housing and 
accommodation, and health.   

 
Consultation 
 
11. Children in Care and care leavers took part in consultation sessions on 16 and 

30 October. All children’s safeguarding partners have been requested to 
provide their feedback and overview of the current draft proposed strategy by 
17 October. Their views, along with any comments made by the Committee, 
will be considered for inclusion in the final document. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
12. None. 

 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
13. The outcome of the consultation and the final draft strategy will be presented to 

the Cabinet on 17th December 2019. 
 
Conclusions 
 
14. The Committee is asked to comment on the draft Corporate Parenting Strategy. 
 
Background Papers 
 
The Children and Social Work Act 2017 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted 

 
Statutory guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the Director of Children’s 
Services and the Lead Member for Children’s Services 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/271429/directors_of_child_services_-_stat_guidance.pdf  

 
Children Act 1989: care planning placement and case review 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/44164
3/Children_Act_Guidance_2015.pdf  

33

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/271429/directors_of_child_services_-_stat_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/271429/directors_of_child_services_-_stat_guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/441643/Children_Act_Guidance_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/441643/Children_Act_Guidance_2015.pdf


 

 

 
Children Act 1989: planning transition to adulthood for care leavers 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/39764
9/CA1989_Transitions_guidance.pdf  
 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
15. None. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications   
 
16. These are addressed throughout the strategy as the aim is to improve 

standards and outcomes for all care experienced children and young people, 
including disabled children, young children and those from minority and harder 
to reach groups. 

 
Other Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
17. None. 

 
Appendices  
 
Appendix A: Draft Corporate Parenting Strategy 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, Director of Children and Family Services,  
Tel:  0116 305 2649 
Email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk    
 
Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director 
Tel:  0116 305 7441 
Email: sharon.cooke@leics.gov.uk  
 
Kelda Claire, Service Manager 
Tel:  0116 3059084 
Email: kelda.claire@leics.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
                                                             

 
 

34

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397649/CA1989_Transitions_guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397649/CA1989_Transitions_guidance.pdf
mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:sharon.cooke@leics.gov.uk
mailto:kelda.claire@leics.gov.uk


Corporate  
Parenting Strategy

2019 - 2022

draftOur Children, Our Future
Leicestershire’s commitment to inspire, support and enable  

children in care and care leavers to be ambitious and successful

35



draft draft
2  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022 Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  3

Contents:
Foreword  ..................................................................................................................... 3

1. Leicestershire  .......................................................................................................... 4

2. Who are ‘Children in Care and Care Leavers?’ ............................................................. 6

3. What do our children say?.......................................................................................... 6

4. Our Promise ............................................................................................................. 7

5. Corporate Parenting Principles - Children and Social Work Act 2017 ............................ 8

6. Who is involved and responsible? ............................................................................... 8

7. Councillors as Corporate Parents  ..............................................................................10

7.1 Officers within Children and Family Services  ........................................................10

7.2 Virtual School  ...................................................................................................12

7.3 What else do we do to show that we care?  ..........................................................14

8. Governance Arrangements for Corporate Parenting  ....................................................15

8.1 Corporate Parenting Board  ................................................................................15

8.2 Children in Care Council and SYPAC  ...................................................................16

9. What success will look like  .......................................................................................17

Appendix A  .................................................................................................................18

Foreword

Ivan Ould  Jane Moore

Lead member for Director of Children’s Services 
Children and Families

In Leicestershire we want to ensure that all children are given opportunities to be happy, healthy and to 
achieve their best outcomes. We embody this in our vision statement and the ‘Road to Excellence’. 

We want children and young people to enjoy positive experiences in safe and supportive families, well 
connected to their local communities and when necessary well supported by a wide range of targeted 
support services - building strong and resilient family relationships.

When children cannot safely live in their family or wider network our priority is to provide safe secure 
and caring homes where children are given all the opportunities they need to inspire them to have 
high aspirations and to support their success though their childhood and into adulthood. We will do 
this by valuing children for who they are and who they want to be. Our Permanency policy sets out our 
commitment to do this. Link

In Leicestershire we are committed to our children in care and care leavers and are determined to ensure 
that we carry out our duty and responsibilities as a Corporate Parent with genuine passion, ambition, 
enthusiasm and care.

We understand that all of our children have individual needs and goals and our care planning and planned 
support offered to all of our children reflects this.

We carefully monitor and support education and learning for our children to enable progress and success 
and strive to ensure that our children are healthy both physically and emotionally.

We know that we will be successful corporate parents if we really listen to our children and ensure that 
their views and opinions have meaning in all areas of our decision making, “You said. We did.” The 
impact of this is seen in the enthusiasm, leadership and effectiveness of our children and their participation 
in our Children in Care Council, Supporting Young People After Care (SYPAC), our Corporate Parenting 
Board and many more participation events.

This Corporate Parenting Strategy provides the foundation and value base for how we will deliver high 
quality services to our children in care and care leavers. It highlights where we are, where we want to be 
and how we intend to develop further to achieve our aspirations as corporate parents and to enable our 
children to meet their own ambitions and be successful in what they do now and in the future.draft

36



draft draft
4  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

1. Leicestershire
Our vision

Leicestershire is the best place for all children, young people and their families

This means that we will describe the outcomes we want to achieve for children, young people  
and their families and identify measures that can tell us how well we are achieving them in  
comparison with other English local authorities. We will aim to be the best performing local  
authority in the country against these measures, and where we are not yet there we will set  

stretching targets for annual improvement.

Our mission
Children and young people in Leicestershire are safe and living in families where they can achieve their 

potential and have their health, wellbeing and life chances improved within thriving communities.

Leicestershire County Council is currently (as of August 2019) the corporate parent to approximately 610 
children and young people. As a corporate parent the County Council has a collective responsibility to be a 
good parent to the children and young people in its care, so that they grow up happy, achieve well and have 
successful lives. This means the Council is expected to do what any responsible parent would do for their 
children. 

Responsible parents care about their children’s safety and their health, their education and their leisure 
interests, their friendships and their futures. They know about their children’s development and what their 
talents and achievements are, they understand their problems. They support their child’s education, listen and 
talk to their children so they understand their needs and hear and respond to their worries.

Leicestershire has a strong corporate parenting ethos which recognises that the care that we provide for 
our children is not just about keeping them safe, but also to promote recovery, resilience and well-being. To 
achieve this, we recognise the importance of stability for our children and the Permanence Policy sets out our 
commitment to the children in our care and our ambition to secure emotional attachment, physical stability 
and long-term commitment for our children. 

Leicestershire County Council also recognises the importance of education in transforming life chances 
for children and young people and our aim is that all children in care are able to receive prompt access to 
appropriate, stable education placements and positive 
educational experiences. 

The Leicestershire Virtual School, also known as The 
Fox Academy, actively promotes the education of our 
children in care, working with schools, alternative 
settings and wider services within and beyond 
Leicestershire to secure prompt access to quality 
education, appropriate to their identified needs and 
minimise disruption to stable provision. 

The importance of our corporate parenting 
responsibility to help drive this ambition is outlined  
in the following diagram:

Voice  
and  

Choice
Self Esteem

Ac
hi

ev
em

en
t

Safety

Raising Aspirations

37



draft draft
6  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022 Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  7draft

2. Who are ‘Children in Care and 
Care Leavers?’
A child (under 18 years) is legally ‘looked after’ by a local  
authority if he or she:

“is provided with accommodation under Section 20 of the Children Act 1989 from the 
local authority for a continuous period of more than 24 hours; is subject to a care order; or 
is subject to a placement order. This also includes disabled children who are provided with 
accommodation under Section 20. Looked after children in care can be placed with foster 
carers, in residential homes, with parents or other relatives (under certain circumstances)”

Definition of a care leaver:

“A care leaver is broadly defined as a person aged between 16 and 25, who has been looked 
after by a local authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14 is either currently in care or 
has left care and has been looked after for a period of time after their 16th birthday”

3. What do our children say?
We understand the importance and value of the views of our looked after children and care leavers and 
together we have developed ‘Our Promise’ which informs this this strategy. 

Quotes to be supplied

4. Our promise
Our Promise sets out our commitment to ensure that Leicestershire County Council and its partners provide 
the best support, guidance and care to our Children in Care and Care Leavers. It demonstrates that we value 
them for their individuality, provide stability and offer aspirational life chances as a good parent provides for 
their children. 

In the same way that a family shares responsibility for bringing up their children with their extended family 
members, the corporate parenting responsibility must be shared by everyone involved in supporting children 
in care. This includes health bodies, education services such as schools and colleges, the police, youth and 
youth justice organisations, and the private and third sectors. 

Leicestershire County Council, elected members and key partner agencies have all signed up to Our Promise. 
Collectively we want to enable all our young people to make positive life choices and achieve their goals and 
beyond. Our Promise makes a commitment directly to young people and their families in 7 Key Areas:

We will support you Respect and Honour  
your identity

We will listen to you We will believe in you

We will find you a place  
you can call home

We will inform you We will be a  
lifelong champion

38



draft draft
8  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

5. Corporate Parenting Principles –  
Children and Social Work Act 2017
When a child becomes looked after in Leicestershire as corporate parents we are committed to provide 
stability, security and aspirational care for our children and to challenge ourselves ‘would this be good enough 
for my child?’. The 7 principles describe the behaviours and attitudes expected of councils when they are 
acting as any good parent would do by supporting, encouraging and guiding their children to lead healthy, 
rounded and fulfilled lives. 

• To act in the best interest, and promote the physical and mental health and wellbeing, of 
those children and young people.

• To encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes and feelings.

• To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young people.

• To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use of, services 
provided by the local authority and its relevant partners.

• To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those children and 
young people.

• For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home lives, 
relationships, and education or work.

• To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent living.

6. Who is involved and responsible?
A strong corporate parenting ethos means that everyone from the Chief Executive down to front line staff, as 
well as elected council members, are concerned about our children and care leavers as if they were their own. 
In Leicestershire, Corporate Parenting is promoted as the responsibility of all. The actions, ambitions and belief 
in our children of the Director of Children and Family Services and the Lead Member set the tone for us all to 
be an effective corporate parent. 

39



draft draft
10  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

7. Councillors as Corporate Parents
In 1998, the Secretary of State wrote to councillors reminding them that they are ultimately accountable for 
the quality of care provided by their local authority and set out their specific responsibility to lead this work and 
monitor its effectiveness.

This position has been supported through published guides for councillors by the DfE in 2003 and 2013, 
highlighting that all elected members should be prepared and ready to champion the interests of looked after 
children and young people in their community. 

Elected members are in the unique position to promote opportunities for looked after children and care leavers 
through their political power and influence, through their connections in the community, schools, health 
services, local businesses and employers. If these links can be built upon then ‘life choices’ and outcomes for 
children and young people can be greatly improved. Elected members are supported, by officers to engage 
with children in care and care leavers to support their understanding and gain their voice. 

Within Leicestershire we define how we expect elected members to fulfil their responsibilities as a 
‘corporate parent’ in 7 principles:

• by having an understanding of the profile and needs of the children in the care of the  
local authority

• by being aware of the impact on looked-after children of all council decisions

• by considering whether this would be good enough for your own child

• by ensuring that the council has a focus on improving outcomes for looked-after children

• by acting as an advocate for looked-after children in your local community

• by supporting the Member Champions in their role

• by being aware of the work and aims of the Corporate Parenting Board

To support elected members detailed oversight and scrutiny of the strengths and areas for development in 
meeting our corporate parenting duty; a scrutiny panel for Corporate Parenting has been developed consisting 
of five elected members. The elected members who make up this group undertake a key role, acting as a 
critical friend on behalf of the children we care for to ensure that the support provided effectively meets their 
needs. 

7.1 Officers within Children and Family Services 
Officers in Children and Family Services have additional responsibilities to support and provide services 
for looked after children and young people, and care leavers. They will ensure that their care planning and 
transition planning is effective, meaningful and influenced by their voice and choice. 

The Assistant Director for Children’s Social Care has direct responsibility for corporate parenting, as do the wide 
range of roles that work directly with our children, such as: Independent Reviewing officers, Social Workers, 
Participation Workers, Children’s Rights officers, youth offending workers, personal advisors and the Virtual 
School.

40



draft draft
12  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022draft

7.2 Virtual School
In Leicestershire our Virtual School is committed to creating and supporting high aspirations for our children in 
care and those leaving care. The dedication and support offered is in place to help our children achieve their 
best. Our children attend a diversity of schools both geographically and in terms of specialism, however the 
virtual school is central to ensuring that all of our children receive a high standard of education to enable them 
to successfully achieve good outcomes and successful futures. Leicestershire Virtual School are successful by 
working in partnership with schools and social workers towards shared visions and goals. The Virtual School 
support this through monitoring, supporting and challenging where necessary through the review of the 
Personal Education Plans (PEP) and monitoring the use of the Pupil Premium Plus. The voice of our children is 
fundamental to effective planning and the Virtual School is committed to ensuring that the voice of our children 
is not only sought but valued and incorporated into any planning. 

Additionally, the Virtual School lead a broad spectrum of engagement activities and learning opportunities 
including but not exhaustive of the following:

Virtual School
Ambitious

Aspirational
Inspirational

University  
Experience  

Days

Music  
Workshops

Author  
Events

Theatre  
Trips

ASDAN 
Independence

Tall Ships  
Trip

41



draft draft
14  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022 Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  15

7.3 What else do we do to show that we care?
We are dedicated and committed to ensuring that our children in care and care leavers feel very much 
thought of and cared for by Leicestershire. This is achieved by not only ensuring that the 7 corporate parenting 
principles are fully embedded. But also providing a broader offer of engagement and contact that we consider 
essential to being good Corporate Parents. 

8. Governance Arrangements  
for Corporate Parenting
Strong corporate parenting means strong leadership, challenge and accountability at every level. The 
governance arrangements that underpin our Corporate Parenting approach focus on the importance of the 
voice of our children and how they experience the support they receive, feel listened to and taken seriously. 
Our governance arrangements enable challenge and reflection on how effectively we are applying the 
corporate parenting principles and ensuring the high level of care that we strive to provide. 

8.1 Corporate Parenting Board
The Corporate Parenting Board’s purpose is to ensure that the whole Council and partner agencies have a joint 
commitment to Corporate Parenting. The aim of this is to achieve continuing improvements in the lives and 
outcomes for looked after children and young people and those who are care leavers. The Corporate Parenting 
Board is well attended by partner agencies enabling the multi-agency ownership of the corporate parenting 
principles to be strong. The meeting is co-chaired by our lead member and one of our care experienced young 
people. There is strong representation from our children in care council and Supporting Young People After 
Care (SYPAC) groups, which enables our children to have the platform to challenge, influence and celebrate. 
The terms of reference for the Corporate Parenting Board are contained in Appendix one

Ambitious
Aspirational
Inspirational

Annual  
celebration of 
achievement

Lead by the VS  
- a wide range  
of opportinities  

for fun and  
learning

Lead member  
and AD  

engagement  
with CIC  
council

Driving  
lessons and  

time to spend 
money

Congratulations  
letter and voucher 

from AD for  
exam results

Letter from  
DCS at 18  

and 21

Elected  
Member  

Scutiny Panel

Children in  
Care Council

SYPAC

Corporate 
Parenting  

Board

draft

42



draft draft
16  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022 Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  17

8.2 Children in Care Council and SYPAC
Leicestershire’s Children in Care Council is a group of young people in care aged between 7-18 who represent 
children and young people in care in Leicestershire. There are two groups – a younger group aged 7-13 and 
an older group 14+. Together they act as the voice of their peers and meet on a monthly basis to discuss 
and consider the issues faced by children in care; things that are important to them; look at ways of making 
a difference for children in care and how they can influence this locally in Leicestershire as well as nationally 
through such forums as the All Party Parliamentary Group for Looked After Children and Care Leavers.

Our care leavers are vital in shaping the services going forward and improve our offer to all of our children. 

SYPAC is the forum for our care leavers 18 -25 years old and offers a monthly meeting to socialise, discuss 
and influence decisions regarding children in care and care leavers and to highlight their views and opinions. 
There is also attendance from virtual school, children’s rights and welfare rights to support and enhance 
independence skills of our care leavers. 

Both our children in care council and SYPAC are regularly involved in decision making at various levels 
and bring robust challenge to hold decision makers to account both internally, regionally and nationally. 
Both groups have had an effective impact on the support that our children receive and decisions within 
Leicestershire. Some examples of these are outlined below:

9. What success will look like
As corporate parents we need to know what success will look like to ensure that we are challenging ourselves 
to continually strive for the best for our children. The table below sets out how we will measure our success in 
the delivery of outcomes for our looked after children and care leavers. 

Children in Care Council and SYPAC activities Impact

Consulted and influenced the development of  
‘Our Promise’.

Ensuring the vision of Leicestershire is led by the 
needs of our children.

Supported and consulted on the ASDAN (Award 
Scheme Development and Accreditation Network) 
independence work book and how this will be 
implemented to support our children.

Ensuring that children in care are supported with 
developing their independence skills to enable better 
transition to adulthood and independence.

Key role in developing a leaflet to give their views  
for Review of Arrangements.

Enabling the voice of our children being represented 
and listened to in care planning meetings if they 
don’t feel able to attend or represent their view.

Creation of a leaflet for children to understand the 
process of a Child Protection Conference.

Support children in understanding the roles and 
responsibilities of the child protection conference. 
Enable them to be empowered and involved.

Involvement with fostering training. Improvement in understanding of Prospective  
Foster Carers of the impact of being in care.  
Their role in supporting this and an improved 
experience for our children.

Creation of a ‘Family Time Agreement’ to support 
expectations for both children and their families 
about the time that they will spend with each other.

Our children are able to be clear about the 
expectations at the beginning and there is 
consistency with workers in exploring different 
options for family time.

Young person’s interview panel for all relevant  
posts within Children and Family Services.

Most recently direct influence on the appointment  
of our Director, Assistant Director and Field work 
Head of Service.

Comprehensive Mapping program with our care 
leavers in relation to the local offer to care leavers

True representation of voice within the consultation 
and development of the local offer for care leaver. 
Ensuring that this is appropriate and effective.

Outcome 1 
Improved  

Physical Health

Outcome 2 
Improved  

Mental Health

Outcome 3 
Placement  

stability and  
safe homes

Outcome 4 
Attainment

Outcome 5 
Care leavers

Children will:

Have improved 
timeliness 
of Health 
Assessments

Be registered  
with a GP

Be registered  
with a dentist

Be up to date 
with all their 
immunisations

Have improved 
timeliness 
of Health 
Assessments

Children will:

Be supported 
through 
evidence-based 
interventions to 
maximise their 
emotional and 
mental well being

Have improved 
Strengths and 
Difficulties 
Questionnaire 
results.

Be referred to 
specialise mental 
health services 
and receive 
treatment in a 
timely manner 
where appropriate

Benefit from joined 
up multi agency 
working to drive 
relationship-based 
approaches

We will:

Where appropriate 
seek to place 
children and young 
people within 20 
miles of their home 
address

Where appropriate 
seek to place 
children and young 
people within long 
term, in house 
provision

Ensure children 
have improved 
placement stability

Our discharge 
planning will 
secure improved 
outcomes for care 
leavers

Make timely 
decisions regarding 
permanence 
and the use of 
SGO’s and Child 
Arrangement Order 
to be used where 
appropriate

Children will:

Be supported to 
achieve their full 
potential

Have a Personal 
education plan 
which will be 
aspirational and 
ambitious

Have their 
progress at school 
monitored and 
every child will 
receive tailored 
support from a 
specialist advisor

We will:

Support care 
leavers to find 
safe, stable and 
suitable places to 
live, making sure 
they are as well 
prepared as they 
can be

Will give 
opportunities to 
keep in touch  
with them until 
they are 25 
and have high 
aspirations  
for them

Support care 
leavers to remain 
with their long-
term foster families 
after they have 
left the care of 
Leicestershire if 
that is in the best 
interests of the 
young person

Support care 
leavers to become 
independent adults 
by helping to 
secure high quality 
education, training 
or employment 
opportunities

Best possible outcome for our children

43



draft draft
18  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022 Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  19

Appendix A
Corporate Parenting Board

Terms of Reference
1)  To ensure that the whole Council and partner agencies adopt a nurturing approach to our children 

in care and care leavers and fulfil their statutory duty as Corporate Parents, in order to achieve 
continuing improvements in outcomes for looked after children and young people. 

2)  To Champion the interests of Children in Care and care leavers. 

3)  Ensuring that promoting the best interests of looked after children is at the core of decision-making of 
the partnership 

This will involve:

Ensuring that the corporate parenting role is understood and fulfilled by all elected members and senior officers 
working across all directorates in the Council and by our partners. 

• Listening to and responding to the voice of children in care and care leavers by meeting and 
talking to children and young people in care on a regular basis.

• Ensuring that children and young people in care and care leavers are able to participate in 
decisions about their care and the shaping and delivery of future services.

• Monitoring and overseeing plans, strategies or policies for looked after children, young 
people and care leavers to ensure performance is maintained. 

• Monitoring the implementation of the Leicestershire Children in Care Pledge 

• Taking issues from the Board meeting forward through Senior Officers from across the 
Council and partner agencies

• Monitoring and reviewing key performance data so that they are achieved and show that 
looked after children have the best start in life. 

The Board will meet four times a year and will be co-chaired by the Lead Member for Children and Families 
and the Chair of the Children in Care Council. 

Membership
• Lead Member for Children and Families (co-chair) 

• Chair of the Children in Care Council (co-chair)

• Children in Care nominated by the Children in Care Council

• Director of Children and Family Services

• Cross party Elected members nominated by the Party Groups

• Children and Family Services Lead Officers: Assistant Director Children Social Care and Targeted Early Help, 
Head of Service Children’s Social Care, Service Manager Fostering and Adoption, Service Manager Children 
in Care, Service Manager Safeguarding Improvement Unit

• Service Manager, Youth Offending Service

• Virtual School Head

• Director of Public Health

• Divisional Director of Families Children and Young People(FYPC) LPT. 

• Designated Nurse for Looked after Children

• Assistant Chief Constable or Police Superintendent with lead for Safeguarding

• District Council representative (Housing)

• Adults & Communities Lead Officer

• LSCB Chair

• Employment and Training Lead

Proposed Format of the Board
• The Board meeting will include informal break-out sessions and activities to engender good discussion 

between Board Members and young people

• Venue will be County Hall committee rooms

• Agenda for Corporate Parenting Board to be set by CiCC and Board Members

44



draft
Published September 2019

T0
45

6

45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE: 5 NOVEMBER 2019 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES 

 
LEICESTERSHIRE FOSTERING AGENCY STATUTORY REPORT 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the activity of the 

Leicestershire County Council Fostering Agency for the period 1 April 2018 to 
31 March 2019.   

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. Leicestershire County Council is responsible for a Local Authority Fostering 

Agency.  It undertakes statutory responsibilities relating to Fostering.   
 
3. Under the National Minimum Standards (NMS), (25.7) all Fostering agencies 

are required to provide a report to the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee regarding the activity and work of the Fostering Agency 
and Fostering Panel.  The Annual Report is attached as Appendix A to this 
report. 

 
Background 
 
4. The County Council operates an integrated Fostering, Adoption and 

Placements Service.  This arrangement has been in operation since April 2015.  
Whilst the services are combined, the Fostering Service is subject to its own set 
of standards, being a regulated service and subject to inspection under the 
Care Standards Act 2000. 

 
Summary of Report 
 

5. The service recognises that it operates within a competitive market, with both 
surrounding local authorities and private providers of placements. As such, 
ambitious priorities and targets were set in the following areas:  

  

 Increasing Leicestershire’s market share of mainstream foster carers 
 Reduction of young people requiring residential placements 
 Increase in the numbers of kinship carers 
 Increase the number of Supported Lodgings providers 
 Increase Leicestershire’s specialist foster carers 
 Ensuring  carers are supported and trained to provide the best possible 

 care. 

47 Agenda Item 12



 
6. A range of work is completed by several teams within the service to ensure 

priorities and targets are met. This includes:-  
 

 The Recruitment Team - enhancing the overall recruitment and 
experience of prospective foster carers 

 The Assessment Team -  assessing prospective foster carers and  
ensuring quality reports are presented to the Fostering Panel 

 The Team around the Child – supporting foster carers to provide the 
best possible care 

 The Kinship Team –  assessing prospective foster carers who are 
known to the child (e.g. family or friends) 

 
7. Highlights of achievements in 2018-19 include: 

 

 Introduction of a new fostering fee scheme from August 2018 

 Net recruitment of in-house mainstream and specialist foster carers 

 Completion and positive response to the annual foster carers survey 

 Improved peer-peer support offer including five locality groups, 
newsletters and community events 

 Introduction of foster carers portal 

 Introduction of Looked After Children and Care Leavers Memory box 

 Foster carer mentoring - implementation of a new offer 

 Quality support – kept supervising social worker caseloads 
manageable 

 Two Support Workers trained in level 1Theraplay support workers 
 

2018-19  performance overview 
 

8. Fostering recruitment: 720 expressions of interest to become foster carers 
(previously 585) were made in 2018/19. 142 initial visits (previously 148) were 
made and 71 stage one assessments (previously 58) were completed. This led 
to 25 mainstream households approved (previously 16). 16 carers were 
deregistered and 9 other carer types were approved (previously 6). 

 
9. Connected carer recruitment: 180 Viability Assessments were undertaken of 

which 57 progressed to full assessment and panel 
 

10. Stability and permanence: 20 young people remained in their foster placements 
under Staying Put arrangements and 90% of young people in Supported 
Lodgings have placement stability. The Department has 38 approved 
independent visitors and year upon year feedback through the foster carer 
survey has been more positive, and through the approach of asking pertinent 
questions and giving the carers the opportunity to rate our service.   Foster 
carers tell us that this means:   

 Keeping supervising social workers’ caseloads low so that foster carers 
have a good level of support and advice   

 Ensuring training is relevant to the needs of the children   
 

48



11. Overview of targets and priorities for 2019-20 include: 
 

 Marketing –  
o Ongoing mainstream fostering campaign 
o Support Lodgings campaign 
o Intensive recruitment campaign Specialist Carers (September 2019) 

 

 Recruitment –  
o 25 mainstream carers (Gross) 
o 4 Specialist carers 
o 3 Supported lodgings 

 

 Retention –  
o Develop the Enhanced Carers Scheme 
o Develop the therapeutic parenting style with the support of MISTLE 
o Keep supervising social worker caseloads manageable – 

approximately 17 to each full FTE, depending on nature of each case 
o Increase Independent Visitor offer 
o Opportunity for 2 DPST support workers to gain training in Therapeutic 

Parenting, DDP or Theraplay 
o Leicestershire Foster Carers Association to be the neutral person to 

undertake exit interviews when carers leave the service 
o Improved Foster Carer Forum 
o Continue to develop the Signs of Safety Approach to all areas of 

service, including reflective supervision and embedding PODS. 
o Review of DPST and MISTLE and decision regarding future model. 
 

Conclusion 
 
12. The Fostering Service has achieved significant success over the last year in the 

recruitment of foster carers in a competitive market.  Within the context of the 
MTFS, increased in house provision is essential to providing high quality cost 
effective care for children.  The investment in the Fostering Service is a priority 
to ensure a continued focus on recruiting and retaining in-house foster carers. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
13. There are no equality or human rights implications arising from this report. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Leicestershire Fostering Agency Annual Report 2018/19 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director 

49



Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk 
Tel: 0116 3052649 
 
Nicci Collins, Head of Service 
Nicci.Collins@leics.gov.uk 
Tel: 0116 3054504 
 
Joss Longman, Service Manager 
Joss.Longman@leics.gov.uk 
Tel: 0116 3053288 

50

mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Nicci.Collins@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Joss.Longman@leics.gov.uk


1

Leicestershire
Fostering  
& Adoption 

LEICESTERSHIRE  
FOSTERING SERVICE 
ANNUAL REPORT  
2018-2019

51



2

OUR SERVICE  
Leicestershire County Council continues to operate a joint Fostering, Adoption and Placements Service. This 
arrangement has been in operation since April 2015 following a service review.  Whilst we operate a joined up 
service we also ensure that the Fostering Service is subject to its own set of standards. The Fostering Service is a 
regulated service and subject to inspection under the Care Standards Act, 2000.  

From July 2019 the service will separate to run both The Fostering and Adoption Services separately in 
preparation of the Adoption Regionalisation Agenda.

Leicestershire County Council’s carers are part of our “Fostering Family”. The service aims to listen and respond 
to our carers and over the last three years we have grown our relationship built on trust and transparency. Their 
knowledge and experiences have helped to shape the service and build upon our strengths. 

Over the last two years the service has engaged with consultants to help us:

• Review our recruitment processes

• Operate within a competitive market 

• Set ambitious recruitment targets

As a service we benefitted from their knowledge and skill base and were able to refine our recruitment processes. 
In March 2019 the service was able to take back the running of the service with one dedicated Service Manager 
for the recruitment and retention functions of fostering supported by an Assistant Service Manager. Our carers 
receive the same service from the point of enquiry though to approval and post support. We recognise that 
recruitment and retention hold equal importance. 

A summary of other developments implemented in 2018/19 is provided below: 

• After a consultation with our carers we implemented our revised Skills Based Payments structure from 
September 2018

• Revised our Supported Lodgings Policy and Scheme

• Consulted and revised our Foster Carer Review Paperwork

• Revised and implemented our Mentoring Scheme

• Developed our Foster Carer Forum

• Launched the new Foster Carer Handbook

52



3

The Service is led by Head of Service for Fostering, Adoption, Children in Care and and Virtual School. Fostering 
is managed by a Service Manager for Retention and Recruitment with a newly introduced Assistant Service 
Manager to support the Service.

The demand for placements has continued to grow, with an increased demand for sibling groups, care for 
teenagers and those with complex needs resulting from experiencing multiple traumas during their childhood or 
complex needs arising from disability. We have also seen a rising trend in older teenagers coming in to care as a 
result of adoption breakdown.

The Recruitment and Retention Strategy is part of the overall Care Placement Strategy 2018- 2021. It is a dynamic 
strategy, geared towards supporting the recruitment of new foster carers to meet the assessed needs as determined 
by the need’s analysis; and is integrally linked with other key strategic plans and strategies for the Council: 

• Children and Families Departmental Plan 2017 – 2021 

• Children & Families Partnership Plan   

• Plus, other ones 

• Recruitment and Retention Strategy 2017 – 2021  

• Permanence and Adoption Strategy 2017 – 2021 

• Commissioning Strategy 2018- 2021   

Other key planning documents are: 

• Service Delivery Plan

• Marketing Plan   

• Market Position Statement  

• Adoption and Permanence Strategy   

• Therapeutic Wraparound Service Development Plan

• Commissioning Plan  

Principles  
• Where it is right to do so, all children will be supported to remain within the care of their families or 

communities with connected carers  

• Where this is not possible, early permanence with adoptive families or foster carers will be sought to promote 
a sense of emotional wellbeing and a sense of belonging  

• Children and young people’s voice will be respected, and we will actively seek their engagement in decisions 
about their needs, their future and the provision of services  

• High quality placements and provision of support to parents and carers to meet the needs of children and young 
people.

• Where possible and right to do so, children and young people should be placed within Leicestershire with 
Leicestershire carers to maintain a sense of connectivity with their community.

• Parents and carers are an integral part of the service, to be involved in planning for the child and service 
provision to ensure that the very best care is provided to our children and young people.  

Objectives   
• Create sufficient placement options to enable choice of placement for looked after children in Leicestershire 

County Council, which will meet needs, and support good outcomes, now and into the future.

• Meet the recruitment targets agreed on an annual basis

• Contribute to the Council savings in Children’s Services   

• For all Children’s Services employees to recognise their contribution to supporting the recruitment and retention 
of foster carers, and recognising their value as part of the professional service delivered to our children in care      

The Fostering Service reports monthly to the Departmental Management Team.  

53



4

Our Identified Tasks from 2017/18 
Annual Report  
The service recognised that it operates within a 
competitive market, with both surrounding local 
authorities and private providers of placement. As 
such, ambitious priorities and targets were set in the 
following areas:   

• Increasing Leicestershire’s market share of 
mainstream foster carers  

• Reduction of young people requiring residential 
placements  

• Increase in the numbers of kinship carers  

• Increase the number of Supported Lodgings 
providers  

• Increase Leicestershire’s specialist foster carers  

• Revise our Fostering Review paperwork

• Ensuring our carers are supported and trained to provide the best possible care.  

A range of work was completed to achieve these priorities including: 
• Increased and dedicated marketing support with an ambitious marketing plan focused on digital platforms and 

promoting Leicestershire County Council’s beliefs and values represented by the new ‘We are family’ brand  

• Specialist Carers Recruitment - Nationally, the recruitment of foster carers is challenging. Recruitment 
becomes more complex when foster carers are needed for children with particular needs like older children, 
those who have complex trauma needs, children with disabilities and those babies who require a placement 
with a parent. 

• During 2018-19 the service continued its success in recruiting specialist carers called One2One and Pathway 
Carers - specialist carers for our more challenging young people.

• Completion of our 3rd annual foster carers survey and an improvement plan to address issues raised by carers 
including a revised training program  

• Revised Payments Structure that recognises the skills, experience and commitment of foster carers and the 
role foster carers play in working with families in partnership with the Council. The payment scheme is based 
on the payment-for-skills principles recommended by the Fostering Network, and the Standards for Foster 
Care developed by the Children’s Workforce Development Council (CWDC) to ensure that all foster carers 
receive induction, training and support

• Revised Foster Carer Handbook to promote understanding of advice, support and training available to carers   

• Revised Foster Carers Review paperwork that draws to the fore the strengths and developmental areas of our 
carers and informs how best carers may support specific cohorts of children  

• Revitalised the locality hub support (Peer to peer support, provision of information)  

• Specialist Carers Support – The right support at the right time is very important to carers.  One of the service’s 
unique selling points is the Dedicated Placement Support Team, which is able to provide 24-7 support to 
carers when they need it most. The team aims to improve the skills, knowledge and competency of carers 
which has an overall impact on the wellbeing of children in their care and promotes placement stability 

54



5

FOSTERING WITH LEICESTERSHIRE 
– ‘WE ARE FAMILY’  
Roles within the Fostering Service  

During 2018/18 the Service consisted of the following teams: 

• Recruitment – Fostering and adoption  

• Assessments – Fostering  

• Team around the Child – Support

• Kinship – Assessment and support 

• Dedicated Placements Support – Placement Stability, Independent Visitors, Supported Lodgings Scheme, 
Staying Put, Specialist Foster Carers

There has been a significant investment in recruitment, and this generated improved performance in relation 
to enquiries from prospective foster carers and adopters; increased numbers progressing to initial visits and to 
assessment. 

The Digital Strategy is central to marketing.  This includes:   

• A largely digital marketing strategy  

• new website geared towards the customer needs and experience for prospective foster carers  

• Surveys and “keep in touch” mechanisms via electronic communications, to provide excellent customer 
service, and manage feedback.   

• Use of Egress Secure Workspace to share information about fostering, and about what to expect, at each 
stage of the journey, including access to forms and training information.   

• Use of Egress Secure Workspace to upload documents, for safe and confidential access, storage and visibility.   

• Use of Egress Secure Workspace to read the Final Form F and confirm amendments and agreement.   

• Use of Egress Secure Workspace to become part of the Fostering Community In Leicestershire County 
Council, with access to information, events, policies, procedures, and forms.   

The detailed Marketing Plan for 2018-21 underpins the activities to secure more Leicestershire Foster Carers and 
is available on request.  

55



6

First Point of Contact – the Recruitment Team  
Over the year this team has provided the first port of call to all potential foster 
carers and adopters, working with our Communications Team to encourage 
carers to approach Leicestershire County Council through active recruitment 
campaigns via: 

• Social media, including Facebook, Instagram and Twitter campaigns  

• Using Google Ad-words – attracting people to our website  

• Local radio adverts  

• Local media through regular press releases and radio interviews.  

• Recruitment campaigns at local sporting events – Leicester Tigers and 
Leicester City  

• Attending local events including ‘Leicester Pride’  

• Targeted recruitment in specific Leicestershire target areas  

We are proud members of:

Members of the public can choose from a variety of ways to get in touch, including telephone, email, by 
completing a form on the website, attending one of our events or sending a text message to the team. Our 
dedicated enquiry officer responds to enquiries promptly, aiming to be back in touch within 2 hours of the original 
enquiry (in working hours). 

We have used the opportunities to launch press releases and ensure our campaign are particularly strong within 
Fostering Fortnight, LGBT fostering & Adoption week as well as Sons and Daughters month to celebrate ‘fostering 
families and their children’.  

The Recruitment Team consists of: 
1 Manager 

1 Recruitment Co-Ordinator

1 Recruitment Support Co-Ordinator

The Council has invested in a dedicated Recruitment Team, to enable and enhance the overall recruitment 
and experience of prospective foster carers. The priority for this team is to set out a friendly, informative, and 
welcoming first point of contact with the prospective carer, which meets their needs and impacts on the 
customer decision to select Leicestershire County Council, over other agencies, for their journey to foster.   

Some key values and behaviours are essential for encouraging those ready to begin the journey to approval 
and those who may not yet be ready, but will choose to foster in the future. Research indicates that people 
typically take 2 years to contemplate and find out about fostering. Their initial contact will be highly influential in 
determining whether they will return to the Council when they are ready.   

Values and Behaviour  
• Positive, friendly and welcoming- recognising that people are usually apprehensive when making their first 

approach.   

• Open and respectful - Anyone is free to make an enquiry. Even if fostering is not right for them, at this time, 
they may know someone for whom it is the right time.   

• Positive and informative -The enquirer relies on the service to tell them about next steps and provide more 
information about fostering.   

56



7

Our Recruitment 
Activity  

Over the year we generated 
and received 720 initial 
expressions of interest in 
becoming foster carers.

We carried out 142 
requested initial visits, 
requiring an Initial 
Assessment worker to 
visit their home to discuss 
in more detail the options 
around becoming a foster carer.

Of those 142 initial visits, 71 converted into fostering applications and were 
progressed to Stage One.

This resulted in 25 Mainstream Households being approved.

In addition, a further 9 households were also approved:

2 Specialist – Pathway Carers

7 Supported Lodgings Providers

In total, 34 households were recruited, assessed and approved in 2018/19.

Initial assessment visits are carried out, this is where our Initial Assessment workers will visit potential applicants 
in their homes to discuss their interest regarding fostering. A full written analysis of the report is on Mosaic within 
48 hours of the visit. 

Once the initial assessment visit has been typed into a report onto Mosaic, the Recruitment Team Manager will 
then take this report to a ‘Proceed to Assessment’ decisions meeting, with Fostering Managers, to discuss and 
decide whether to progress to assessment or not. 

Following on from this decision, Mosaic will be updated with the decision, and feedback is given to applicants 
either over the telephone or in some cases, through a home visit by the Initial Assessment worker. 

If it is decided that the applicants should proceed onto assessment, the Initial Assessment workers will then 
made arrangements to collect the relevant paperwork from the applicants. 

Once this paperwork has been collected, the Initial Assessment Worker will then collate and ensure all applicant 
details for Stage 1 are present, they will then submit with a ‘task request’ to Business Support.

At this point, the applicants move over to the Fostering Assessment team. 

57



8

Snapshots of some of our most successful Fostering Campaigns: 

Our Fostering Events 2018/19 
Our Find Out About Fostering events continued to be well attended throughout the year. The events are held 
every 3 weeks in County Hall at 6:30pm in the evening and are advertised to the general public. Our events are 
relaxed and informal and provide an opportunity for people to come along to find out about fostering and hear 
from some of our foster carers, what it’s really like to be a foster carer. Our current foster carers also engage in our 
information evenings to speak about their own experiences. We publicise our events through our social media 
and also contact individuals who have enquired with a text message reminder. 

The event provides an opportunity for us to showcase the benefits of fostering with Leicestershire County Council, 
allowing us to focus on our ‘unique selling points’ for example, ‘Leicestershire people caring for Leicester’s 
children & young people’ which emphasises that opposed to fostering for an Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) 
who may be placing children from all over the country with their carers, fostering with us means you will look 
after Leicestershire children – meaning local school and contact visits – not in different counties. 

Fostering Events 18/19

12- 2- 24- 7-
Apr May May Jun Jul Jul Aug Sep Sep Total

Attended 12 16 7 8 8 13 16 15 15 10 13 10 5 12 10 8 10 110
Requested IV 9 12 6 6 6 11 11 10 10 8 12 8 2 6 9 7 9 81

58



9

Foster Care Fortnight 2018 

Our campaigns during Foster Care Fortnight (FCF) were all supporting FCF, throughout our social media platforms. 

There has continued to be a demand for foster placements for the specific children and young people:

• Parent & Child Placements

• Siblings 

• Teenagers

• Children with Complex Needs 

Recruitment during 2018-19 has focused on mainstream foster carer recruitment as well as specialist to meet 
this demand, such as;

Pathway Carers – In 2018 we launched our Pathway Carers Scheme, a further specialist scheme for young 
people stepping down from residential care / One2One placements where their Care Plan is either a phased 
return home or long-term foster care whilst intensive work is undertaken to enable their return home. The carers 
work closely with the birth family and support them with behaviour management techniques, managing contact, 
working with education provision and health professionals. Many of the young people have experience multiple 
placement moves. During the year we successfully recruited 2 carers offering 3 places 

Short Breaks – For carers wishing to provide respite care to children with disabilities for a minimum of one 
weekend per month. 

Parent & Child Placements – There continues to be a drive from the Courts for these placements, skilled carers 
who enable parents to be placed alongside their child whilst an assessment is undertaken. 

59



10

The Journey has started – The Assessment Team 
Following the restructure of our service in April 2015 our Assessment Team combined with the Adoption 
Assessing Team. The team assesses: 

• Fostering Assessments

• Private Fostering Assessments

• Non-Agency Adoption & they lead on the Skills to Foster Training. 

The Assessment Team consists of: 
1 Manager

1 Senior Practitioner 

6.5 FTE Assessing Social Workers 

Should the prospective carer and the Fostering Agency agree to proceed after the initial enquiry to become a 
foster carer and the initial visit, the actual assessment (Form F Assessment) starts and will be completed in 16 
weeks. This will be completed by an allocated social worker. 

Once a written assessment has been completed and the carer has been approved, this will become the carers 
fostering portfolio – it will be used to help match the carer with the right foster child.

In Leicestershire, Stage 1 and Stage 2 assessments are merged to enable a better experience for prospective 
foster carers. This means that the two assessments are separate but run concurrently. This change, together with 
the use of external providers to complete assessments and increased focus on performance management will 
seek to reduce the length of time for assessment from point of initial visit to panel. The aim is to maintain reduced 
time of completion to 4.5-6 months (previously 7-9 months).

In 2018/19 the Assessment Team approved the following number of carers: - 

• Fostering Approvals = 25

• Adoption Approvals = 33

• Non-Agency Adoption (Adoption Order granted) = 2

• Private Fostering Assessments Completed = 2

Early indicators for 2019/20 are that we are likely to progress more Private Fostering Assessments and more 
Non-Agency Adoption Assessments. 

There have been changes to the Assessment Team during 2018-19 - the Initial Visit function transferred to the 
Recruitment Team and the responsibility for Stage One for Supported Lodgings was transferred to the Dedicated 
Placement Support Team. 

As of July 2019, Agency Adoption Assessments and the Adoption Stage One Support Worker will be the 
responsibility of the Permanence Team; and one of the workers from the Assessment Team (0.5 FTE) will be 
seconded to the Connected Persons Team, to increase capacity and improve timeliness of responses.   

Panel and Approval 
Leicestershire’s Fostering Agency has an independent panel with a broad range of knowledge, skills and 
experience. As well as this expertise, members also have access to legal and medical advice if required. 

60



11

To improve the efficient use of Panel time, the following actions were initiated in 2018-19 and will be embedded 
in 2019-2020:

• The date of presentation to Panel will be set at the start of the assessment, and will be written in to the 
assessment agreement, and recording on the electronic system (MOSAIC). 

• Approval will be confirmed by the Agency Decision Maker within 7 days of the Panel, and will be 
communicated to the Foster Carers by telephone and in writing. 

• Monthly meetings between the business lead (Service Manager for Marketing and Recruitment), the Service 
Manager for Permanence and the Panel Chair to identify and resolve workflow issues. 

• As Panel is shared with approval of Kinship (also known as Connected or Family and Friends) Carers, there 
will be a review of how these assessments are completed and presented to Panel. 

Supporting Leicestershire’s Carer – Team Around the Child

In Leicestershire, support is delivered through 
the Team Around the Child, whist consists of: 

Team Manager 

Senior Practitioner (FTE 1.2)

Assessing Social Workers FTE 5.6

Training Officer 

Review Officer 

Support is offered through monthly visits from the supervising social worker, a training offer that is revised 
annually and supported by CAMHS and the Virtual School, the offer of CAMHS consultation sessions, locality 
hubs led by foster carers, community events, advice and support from Leicestershire’s Foster Carer Association 
(LFCA) and the newsletter.

Areas of development during 2018/19.
• Foster Carer Forum – In 2018/19 we introduced this as a concept within our foster carer locality support 

group meetings. Moving forward this will include quarterly meetings that also include our virtual school and 
Corporate Parenting Team.

• Mentoring Scheme- The mentoring scheme is recognised by both potential carers in assessment and the 
Fostering Service as a valuable support in bringing carers into our fostering family. A revised mentoring policy 
and scheme has now been developed and all applicants are offered this as part of their assessment.  

• Foster Carer Handbook – We took the opportunity to completely revise our Foster Carers Handbook, ensuring 
it contained all the vital information carers required as part of their fostering journey.

• Foster Carer Training Programme – Our carers told us through the annual survey that the training programme 
was one of the things they most valued from the service. Our training offer now includes more advanced 
training modules including specific and ongoing training for therapeutic parenting. We also recognise that 
carers use many different formats for training and have implemented many on-line training courses and 
specific therapeutic support pods using webinars. 

61



12

A copy of our training programme can be found at https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/
fostering/training-and-support-for-foster-carers and click on the document ‘personal development and training 
programme 2019’.

• On-line portal- During 2018/19 we trialled and successfully launched our online portal for our foster carers 
and Looked After Children. This online portal is made of 3 main areas: 

 9 Fostering service information – Carers can find guidance on how to use the portal and contact details 
for the support team as well as information on our fostering policies such as payments, the fostering 
handbook, training programme and the regular newsletters.

 9 Foster carers admin box - This enables our carers to have their own virtual filing cabinet where they can 
upload all their documents such as child recording logs, mileage claims and expenses in a secure place 
via our online portal. This information is then uploaded onto our internal Mosaic system where payments 
can be processed in a timely manner and shortly carers will be able to access payment records. There are 
several folders for carers to access which holds their household profiles, safe caring policies, foster carers 
agreements, fire escape plans, training records and certificates as well as supervision records and annual 
review documents.

 9 Virtual Memory Box - Carers can scan and upload photographs, videos, school reports, certificates of 
achievements and pen pal letters for the young people they have cared for into a confidential file unique to that 
young person. These records are kept safely for the young person who can have access to view the items at an 
appropriate time but are not able to edit or delete the content. We know the importance of maintaining these 
memories for our young people and the memory box offers a chronological timeline of their journey through 
care. 

• Manageable caseloads for Supervising Social workers- Research informs us that the optimum caseload for 
workers should be 16. We have tried to maintain this to ensure our carers receive the right level of support 
when they need this.

• Being valued and being part of the Team around the Child - Foster Carers carry out a very important role in 
the understanding, assessment and care of the children placed with them. We believe that our foster carers 
should be included, involved in and contribute to decision making in relation to the child they care for.   We do 
this through hubs, forums, surveys, reviews and the LFCA.

• The Fostering Service has continued to work with each foster care locality groups seeking different forums to 
receive feedback and offer support.  

• Foster carers handbook ensuring that carers have a clear practice guidance and understanding of fostering 
policies and expectations

• Review paperwork has been revised including Signs of Safety and to give greater emphasis to the life 
experience of all in the foster home. We have also revised the child’s voice feedback to better hear the voice of 
the child

• Put in place the new payments scheme following previous years consultation with carers

Retention Activities;
Engagement with carers is essential to communication – we want to know what our carers think and what is 
important to them. We have increased our Locality Support Groups and we have a carers forum which offers 
opportunities for discussion and feedback as well as a quarterly information evening. This is a sample of other 
events supported by the service:

 9 Locality support groups social activities such as summer Twin Lakes trip and Christmas parties, family fun 
day, Easter event.

 9 Annual Celebration event – An evening to celebrate our carers – Foster Carers, Supported Lodgings 
Providers and Independent Visitors

 9 Sons and Daughters events offering opportunities for birth children to enjoy recognition for their 
commitment to fostering and for them to gain support from others birth children.  

62



13

What we plan to develop in 2019/20
• Self-service access to training of a range of courses

• Carers reports for Children’s ROA, giving carers a greater voice in these meetings ensuring all important dates, 
activities and views relevant to the child are recorded

• Development of Enhanced Carers (level 4) allowing carers opportunity for professional development 
and recognising the additional skills some carers demonstrate and require in their fostering role to parent 
therapeutically

• Joint working with the Permanence Team to develop a training module for foster families moving children onto 
adoption.

In Leicestershire a foster carers survey is sent out annually. In 2018, there was strong feedback from carers in 
relation to different questions regarding the support they receive. This is summarized below: 

In 2018 Our foster carers told us:
97% enjoyed our fostering events

91% felt our training was excellent, relevant and useful

94% agreed / tend to agree that they meet with their supervising social worker often enough

97% Agreed / tend to agree that felt they could approach their supervising social worker if they had any worries

81% Felt they were listened to by the fostering service.

We have set priority actions for the forthcoming year to ensure the support and consultation we have with our 
carers continues:

Communications to  
Children’s Social Workers and 

other key professionals continue 
to reinforce the collective 

responsibility for provision of 
reliable and accessible support 
to foster carers, particularly at 

times of crisis or stress

Set up locality 
Kinship Groups, 

Skills to foster and 
mentoring scheme

More training 
opportunities on 

therapeutic parenting

Prior to fostering 
panel meet with the 
supervising social 

worker

In consultation  
with our carers 

review our policies 
and procedures

63



14

The Kinship Team  
During 2018 the Kinship Team experienced a degree of instability and the loss of a long-standing Team Manager. 
Jane Clamp, the new Team Manager, commenced her duties in October 2018. The staffing in the Kinship Team 
is once again settled with a renewed focus on timeliness and quality of assessments and working as part of a 
bigger team:

• We have improved the connection with locality Child Protection Teams to ensure there is ownership and 
understanding of the processes. 

• The focus of work during 2018/19 has been about getting the right assessments into the Kinship Team in a 
timely manner. 

• We have worked to improve the quality of reports being presented as negative assessments being presented 
at panel. 

• To compliment and support this work we have released the Senior Practitioner in the Kinship Team to support 
locality social workers with the completion of Initial Viability Assessments. 

Although this is in its early stages, we have received very positive feedback from the Locality teams and from the 
Fostering Panel:

• I would just like to say thank you to the Kinship SW for explaining the process to the child’s uncle in a straight 
forward manner, so he was able to recognise the commitment needed as a connected carer.  He was able to 
decide that he would be unable to commit to the fostering task                

• Your input was really helpful, it allowed me to focus on the information being shared and observations of the 
carer & child and not worry so much about making sure I didn’t miss anything in terms of process. 

• You were clear, and explained our different roles and responsibilities well, and I felt that having someone from 
the Kinship Team was useful in terms of being clear with the proposed carer and what support she would 
get from who. I also felt that it helped to clarify for the carer that the role of kinship carer is a ‘job’ with clear 
responsibilities and a duty of care. 

• Thanks to the Kinship Team support with the IVAs, it made such a difference and been great learning for us 
both. Your oversight and feedback has been invaluable in assisting us with the Initial viability assessments 

64



15

Quality Assurance mechanisms introduced during the year include:

• The Team Manager screens all assessments. 

• Court ordered assessments have agreed standards- that they have been presented to Fostering Panel and 
ADM before filing.  

• A timeframe for completion of assessments and a process for early alerts has now been agreed with the court 
(12 weeks; early alert at 8 weeks if this is not likely to be achieved).

The Kinship Team has continued to be very busy and numbers being referred for assessment continue to rise. 
During 2018-19 180 Initial Viability Assessments were sent to the Kinship Team, this included positive and 
negative initial viability assessments. 

Of these:

• 57 progressed to panel 

• 33 were approved

• 24 were negative

• 1 - ADM was unable to decide as the applicants withdrew from the process

In terms of children placed under Reg. 24 of the Fostering Regulations, 27 placements were agreed (comprising 
single children, also sibling groups and parent and child placements).  

The high number of assessments and the tight timescales involved have meant that the service has continued to 
commission external assessments to meet tight timescale and volume demands.

Development for next year 
The service is confident that we can meet the demands of the assessments coming through, and our 
assessments are robust, however we recognise that Leicestershire has one of the highest post approval kinship 
caseloads in the East Midlands. There continues to be a growth in post approval where Special Guardianships 
are not the final Care Plan for the young people. This trend will continue to be explored through our Permanence 
Panel and in meetings with the judiciary. Service development priorities have been identified: 

• To develop our locality Support Groups for kinship carers

• To improve the quality of our assessments and to ensure there is connectivity with the child care social worker 
we will once the IVA is approved, meet with child’s social worker within 10 days to understand care planning/
background. This will ensure the background history and family dynamics is robustly assessed

• We will use Words and Pictures in our assessments to capture voice work 

• We will meet with the field work team social worker prior to the end of the assessment to share assessment 
and outcome  

• We will do a joint visit to the carers (the post support worker, assessing social worker and child’s social worker) 
to explain the expectations and process if the assessment is positive

• We will develop PODS to undertake Signs of Safety supervision between assessment and post support to 
ensure the case is transferred well, promoting shared understanding of needs

• We will offer a bespoke kinship Skills to Foster for kinship carers

• We will ensure our kinship carers engage and complete their Training and Development standards within 18 
months of approval.

65



16

The Dedicated Placement Support Team  
Leicestershire’s Dedicated Placement Support Team (DPST) has been in operation for three years. This team 
aims to support foster placements to promote placement stability by Improving understanding of children’s needs 
and best ways to meet these needs. 

The team will work long term with specialist carers (One2One, Pathway carers, Staying Put and Supported 
Lodgings) and for set periods of time with children in residential care, kinship and mainstream foster carers. 

The team consists of: 
Team Manager 

Supervising Social Workers (3) 

Support Workers (5) 

Independent Visitor Co-Ordinator 

 

The team’s priority outcomes:  

• Placement stability 

• Supporting children to home or to family-based placements or into independence. 

• Promoting understanding of complex behaviours and how best to meet these needs when they arise.   

The Supervising Social Worker works closely with the child’s Social Worker and the team around the child, this 
includes CAMHS. At present there is a system whereby foster carers can book sessions through their Supervising 
Social Worker to discuss the child’s mental health and any presenting behaviours DPST work in partnership 
with the MISTLE team, recently commissioned MISTLE of embedding therapeutic parenting with our foster 
carers, with a priority focus for young people placed in residential placements / stepping down into family-based 
placements.

DPST have also organised festive season craft events and are currently looking at 4 events over the summer for 
Fostering Family Fun days. 

Feedback from the carers and young remain positive the main aspects around the support workers being 
available out of hours, being creative in their working with young people.

During 2018-19 Placement stability continued to be good (8%), with specific interventions offered. By the end of 
March 2019, the following had been achieved: 

• 25 children were supported to remain within their placement

• 3 young people returned home from either foster care or residential placements

• 3 young people moved from high cost placement to either supported lodgings or to live independently3 young 
people have remained at home with their parents after they had spent time in care previously but the family 
were experiencing difficulties with behaviours

• 25 Supported Lodgings Providers with 19 young people in placement.   

• Approval of 6 Supported Lodgings Providers

• 3 prospective Supported Lodgings in assessment

• 90% of our young people in Supported Lodgings have remained stable in their placement  

• 2 young people have moved into Supported Lodgings from Residential Placements, out of County, and are all 
stable at present.

• 20 young people who have Stayed Put in their foster placements  

• We successfully recruited a further 2 Pathway Carers (In total we have 2 pathway, 3 one2one carers and 1 
specialist foster carer for children with complex needs).

66



17

Developments for 2019-20
• We have a specialist recruitment month in September to attract new specialist carers and ongoing recruitment 

via our Social Media sites or staff vacancy pages.

• Develop our work with the MISTLE project

• The recruitment of long term One2One care for children with disabilities  

• The recruit of 3 new Supported Lodgings Providers per year. 

• Develop our staff team - we have 2 level 1Theraplay support workers, we now hope to support 2 further 
support workers to have additional qualified training e.g. in Therapeutic Parenting, DDP and Theraplay.

• The priority challenges the services faces are streamlining referrals, presenting a business case for a Senior 
Practitioner for the team and ensuring that all caseloads are manageable   

• Develop our referral and feedback sheets to be in the Signs of Safety model with scaling questions and danger 
statements so we can evidence impact.

Retention overview  
Our annual Foster Carer retention survey undertaken in October 2018 provides our carers with the opportunity to 
inform the service of how we are performing and where they feel we can make improvement. Year upon year our 
feedback has been more positive, and the approach of us asking pertinent questions and giving the carers the 
opportunity to rate our service.   

Our foster carers tell us that this means: 

• Keeping supervising social workers’ caseloads low so that foster carers have a good level of support and advice  

• Ensuring training is relevant to the needs of the children  

Continually listening and involving foster carers in shaping the service. 

There are more young people in 
long-term foster care than ever 

before, and we need to recognise that 
as a permanent option and make sure 
the resources and support are there to 
support the carers, and that is whatever 
the legal status, 
Community Cares, October 4th 2017

The service deregistered 16 foster carers this year, this was less than the predicted 25 carers. 

An overview of foster carer loss is as follows:  

• 2 Carers deregistered due to practice/safeguarding concerns  

• 10 carers resigned due to retirement or life changing circumstances.  

• 1 carer transferred to an Independent Fostering Agency

• 3 retired due to keeping their foster child post 18 as a Staying Put placement 

We are pleased to note that we have a number of carers who have remained with the service for over 25 years. 
This year we said goodbye to our longest serving foster carers who had been carers for 42 years and provided 
placements for over 200 children and babies, preparing them for their forever families. 

67



18

Fees and Allowances   
Our Foster Carer Surveys completed annually since 2016 have told us our payments to foster carers are a 
significant element of the support and retention plan for fostering. The DfE review highlights that while fees are 
not a major issue for recruitment, the reward to foster carers for their role is key in retention. This is supported by 
findings from Fostering Network and our foster carer surveys completed over the last 3 years   

In Leicestershire the revised fee structure was implemented in September 2018. 

Our Training  
Foster carers are prepared for the role in pre-approval training through the Skills to Foster and continue to receive 
specific training through their development and additional, child specific training.  This year and in line with 
Fostering Network revised programme we refreshed our Skills to Foster training programme. We have a “Team 
Approach” to the programme whereupon members of all the teams within the Fostering Service – the Team 
Around the Child, Dedicated Placement Support Team and Assessment Team co-deliver the training. This 
enables carers to meet the team prior to approval and be aware of our support offer.

The training we provide is valued and an important part of the support, preparation and development of foster 
carers, including specialist foster carers.  91% of our Foster Carers identified that they were:

• Happy with training provided

• Felt training was excellent

• Relevant and useful

• Helped me with the children in my care 

A strong, training programme has been designed to match the learning and development needs of the foster carer 
population and National Minimum Standards and the service has expanded the training offer.   The service has 
achieved this by developing our e-learning training hub. This means that carers can complete training in a more 
flexible manner. In addition to a set program of learning offers, the training hub has monthly training themes 
where carers can develop their skills and knowledge in key areas in their own time – this includes modules on 
child development, self-harm and caring for traumatised children. Our 
training programme has expanded to offer more advanced and varied 
courses to meet the needs of various placement types. 

We have also combined some training events to include both kinship 
and Special Guardian carers. As the training is more inclusive, it brings 
in different perspectives and experiences. Our use of feedback from 
every event helps to review and develop the future training programmes 
to provide future bespoke and specialist training courses. Feedback 
from carer is seen as an essential part of the retention package for foster 
care and ensuring that training is relevant for both our new and more 
experienced carers. For 2018/19 the service is developing more training 
events focusing on a therapeutic approach.   

68



19

We have a dedicated training co-ordinator who delivers training for all our carers both mainstream and kinship. In 
addition to our Core Training we also provide:

• 80 e-learning courses (for carers in the home or libraries)  

• 40 live courses in venues booked by the Training Officer.  

• CAMHS training  

• LGBT, Therapeutic Parenting, Life Story Work, Drug & Alcohol Awareness, NHS Fayre, Safer sleep for babies 
and ASDAN independent living skills  

• Training, Support and Development Standards - paper version or online assessment is available which can be 
completed on a tablet or mobile phone  

• Level 3 Diploma for the CYPW at the carer’s home.  

• NHS Diana training for short break carers   

Feedback/ Evaluations on training  
• Evaluations are completed at the end of every training session by every carer and uploaded to each carer’s 

records. They are evaluated by the trainer as well as the training officer and any issues, developments noted 
and actioned and are very relevant to assess and evaluate our current training courses.   

• Trainers are also invited to provide feedback to gauge their experience of our venues and carers which again 
are actioned and reported where necessary.  

• We have designed a new feedback form to scale the learner’s progress and knowledge from the beginning of 
the training to the end of the training session.  

Our Plans for the forthcoming year  
• Continue to work with the Virtual School, Caring About Reading Scheme and the libraries to create carer and 

child focused training.

• Provide support to access the training and events organised by the Corporate Parents Team  

• Develop the kinship/SGO support groups and events  

• Complete the Learning Hub for all carers by the end of 2019.  

69



20

Report from the Independent Reviewing Officer, Becky Edser
During 2018/19 we undertook 135 foster carer reviews.   

All carers both kinship and mainstream carers engage in the review process and feel able to discuss their 
fostering year with the reviewing officer.

We recognise the good practice of holding reviews following concerns and this has been fully implemented within 
Leicestershire over the last year. This was originally met with some concern  

from carers as carers presumed this would mean they would be de-registered, but through the  

review process carers recognise that this approach supports transparency, learning and how to support both 
carers and the children or young people in their care. In some cases where there was a significant concern there 
will be a recommendation of a change of approval or de- 

registration.  During 2018-19 we undertook six reviews because of concerns about practice. There was a 
recommendation of de-registration for one foster family to Panel.  From September 2018, I took over first reviews 
of foster carers prior to their attendance at Panel. It was felt that the Reviewing Officer’s oversight was required for 
consistency and good practice. 

We have amended the review paperwork to ensure the “Lived Experience” of the looked after child and the foster 
family was a clear focus. In Leicestershire we support the Signs of Safety Model and wanted our paperwork to 
follow, so the approach is reflected across the whole service. The paperwork has been revised for all participants 
to capture the views of:

• Foster carer

• Birth children

• Supervising Social Worker

• Independent Reviewing Officer

• Foster Child / Children

This will be implemented from July 2019.

Last year I raised concerns regarding the quality and lack of feedback we were receiving from professionals to 
contribute to foster carer reviews. In March 2018 feedback was 40% completion. This was raised with child care 
managers and we agreed to monitor the contribution of others monthly and provide updates. Month by month 
the contribution of professionals improved. As of March 2019, children’s social worker contribution to reviews 
was 80%. We also called upon our Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) to provide feedback as in some 
cases they are the professional with whom the child has had the longest relationship. As of March 2019, their 
contribution at foster carer reviews was 55%. Clearly there is a lot more work to be done with IROs.

Another expectation implemented in 2018/19 was the availability of a chronology on each foster carer’s record, 
completed and updated by the supervising social worker. This was an action arising from a significant allegation 
against a carer and a subsequent audit of foster carer case files. The chronology is a valuable tool for undertaking 
reviews as it provides a timeline of events, decisions and developmental actions like training. Carers were initially 
cautious as to why they were being used, and whether this was a negative thing. I have advised it is for all 
carers and also identifies good practice examples. Case file audits are undertaken by senior managers to ensure 
chronologies are on carers files.  

On the whole carers have welcomed the new fee structure and the opportunity to move onto a higher fee level 
in line with their experience and training. Importantly this now recognises our kinship carers for the contribution 
they make to children’s lives and the service. 

Moving forward we need to agree the progression process and requirements for carers moving onto the enhance 
level.

Carers report feeling safe within the service, feel more valued and listened to. Over the last year we have seen 
many of our carers go above and beyond for their foster children, which makes us as a service feel proud. Carers 
feel there is more stability in the fostering service and welcome the events the service provides to carers.

They have enjoyed the Foster Carer Recognition Events, and the Activity Days in the holidays.  

70



21

OUR FOSTER PANEL
Annual report of the Leicestershire County Council Fostering 
Panel
1st April 2018 - 31st of March 2019

1. Introduction
This report summarises the work of the panel over a 12-month period. And should be read in conjunction with 
the statement of purpose produced by the agency.

2. Composition Of the Panel 
The Agency is required to maintain a Central list of persons who are suitable due to their variety of skills, 
background and knowledge, and who can be flexible in their availability. LCC has tended to operate a panel A 
& B where members general stick to the one panel, however, can be called upon to sit on the other panel if the 
need arises. During this year there have been 2 new panel members (further 2 to be appointed by the beginning 
of June), appointed in a bid to increase representation of experienced individuals, medical background and 
diversity in terms of gender and ethnicity.

Name of  
Panel Member 

Panel Role
Date Became  
a Panel Member

Arlene Weekes Independent Chair March 2013

Tony Richardson Independent Vice-Chair 16 January 2013

Mohamed Patel Independent Vice-Chair 20 September 2017

Fiona Booth Independent Member 17 August 2016

Jacinta Barnard Independent Member 19 July 2017

Anne Bridge Independent Member 17 June 2015

Margaret Atkinson Independent Member 22 August 2012

Ashley Scott Independent Member 1 August 2012

Thure Johansen Independent Member 30 January 2013

Rebecca Peters LCC Social Worker Representative 21 January 2015

Amanda Hales Independent Member 1 April 2015

Kendall Concannon Independent Member 5 November 2014

Ty’rone Haughton Independent Member 17 October 2018

Brenda Seaton County Councillor 6 February 2019

Catherine Thompson Independent Member 3 May 2017

Natashar Chimwaza LCC Social Worker Representative 24 January 2018

Sandy Chamberlain Training Co-ordinator / Kinship rep July 2019

Action:
• Panel members reviews to be completed by the end of July 2019. 

• Interviews for new panel members to take place June 2019.

• Training to be scheduled for the now well established panel members.

71



22

3. Panel Functions
The core function of panel has remained the same, namely, to make recommendations to the Agency Decision 
Maker on the following:

• the suitability of prospective applicants to foster;

• whether foster carers approvals to change to reflect the possibility of them being long term matched with a 
specific child or children.

• to consider the 1st annual foster carer review or any reviews the Agency deem necessary

In addition, the panel is available to provide advice to the agency of any cases that they wish panel to explore and 
to provide feedback upon these cases.

The Fostering panel met on 24 occasions and 5 additional panels were convened to address the Agency’s 
workload, hearing a total of 131 cases.

New Fostering Approvals  - 61

6 Month Reviews - 2

Annual Foster Carer Reviews - 32

Deregistration - 1

Deferred Cases by panel - 9 

Change of terms approval e.g. Long-Term Matches - 2

Non-Approvals by panel - 24

4. Business Support
The role of the Panel Administrator is to:

• produce an annual schedule of panels,

• ensure that panel members are invited to panel ensuring quoracy,

• maintain the panel booking system and to liaise with the Panel chair and panel adviser in constructing the 
panel agenda,

• receive and distribute reports to panel,

• general liaison with the Panel chair and panel adviser,

• produce a record of the panel discussion by way of minutes and ensure that those are amended and 
circulated to all relevant parties,

• liaise with the ADM in relation to the decision (decision letter).

There has continued to be consistency in the Panel Administrator role, which is appreciated by all panel 
members.

Action: 
• Administrator to attend minute-taker/administrator training.

5. Quality Assurance – function and feedback
The panel provide feedback for each case presented to it, this is collated by the Panel Adviser, verbally as each 
case is heard and a new form has been devised which many panel members complete at the time of reading the 
reports. 

72



23

6. Prospective Foster Carers Reports and Connected Assessments
Generally, panel comment favourably on the quality of the above reports. There have been a few occasions, 
primarily when new assessors have been used, where it has been felt that the reports lacked detail analysis. 
Particularly as it relates to vulnerabilities of applicants and what support can be offered.

There has been a noticeable improvement to the quality of Connected Carers reports, this is due to the noticeably 
good working relationship between the Panel Advisor and the newly appointed Connected Team Manager. 
In turn the latter has a good relationship with the panel and has been open to the feedback about her team’s 
work. She and her staff have also used the panel to present cases where she has sought advice. The manager 
clearly has a good knowledge of child protection and National minimum standards as it relates to connected 
assessments such that now the reports clearly evidence work to be undertaken, areas of vulnerability and give a 
clear view as to the care plan.

7. Home Reports/Annual Foster carers Reports
Again, these reports are of a relatively good standard, the major area of comment is in relation to inaccuracies in 
the data/details of existing foster carers. Generally, there is a sense that the relationship between carers and their 
supervising social worker is good.

Action: 
• More diligence is needed in terms of basic information being checked as part of the management oversight 

of cases.

8. Other cases considered
There have been 6 Reviews Following Concerns/Allegations over the year there, which appears to be a low figure 
but this may be due to the working relationship between foster carer and SSW as mentioned above.

9. Agency decision maker
The ADM has endorsed 122 of the Panel recommendations and on 1 occasion did not make a decision, and 1 
where the Panel recommendation has not been agreed with.

10. Agency Feedback
See 5 above

11. Feedback from Attendees
All attendees are given feedback forms after attending panel. This feedback is then typed by the panel 
administrator and then shared with panel at each panel under any other business. Whilst it is noted that these 
forms are often completed to date there has been no collation of these forms.

Action: 
• Panel adviser and Panel Administrator to collate the data received from these feedback forms to establish 

whether there are any patterns which would suggest the need for panel to change its practise.

73



24

12. Summary and Conclusions
The agency and Panel have continued to operate in a context of considerable government change in relation to 
childcare services.

From the above there are a number of issues that require attention:

• explore the need for any improvements following the feedback on the experience of attendees coming to 
panel

• Panel member reviews to be undertaken yearly and on-time.

• Administrator to attend minute-taker/administrator training.

• Panel training to be identified.  

• Continue with Annual Foster Panel training to incorporate updates on legislation and LCC Policies and 
Procedures

THE INDEPENDENT VISITOR SCHEME 
The scheme supports children in care up to the age of 21. The scheme provides positive friendships and role 
models for our young people placed in foster care and residential care, with many friendships being maintained 
after young people have moved on from care and are living independently. The scheme assists with placement 
support and stability for both mainstream and connected carers.

During 2018-19 we have reviewed our Independent Visitors Scheme and put an emphasis on recruitment, 
training and support. There is a robust development plan in place for future development of the service.

At the end of March 2019, the service had:

• 38 approved independent visitors

• 7 Visitors retired/ceased being visitors as their matched young person reached 21/no longer wished to  
have an Independent Visitor

• 6 applicants being assessed. 

Recruitment of male independent visitors continues to be a challenge nationally, but the service is working hard 
to try to address this, by promoting the scheme via local sporting 
venues, the Council website, links with police and fire service, 
and through approved independent visitors.  In addition the 
scheme was promoted during national volunteer week in June 
2018, and the support by independent visitors acknowledge.

During 2018/2019 the scheme has produced new practice 
standards and updated Policy, Procedure and staff guidance has 
recently been approved for the service. 

The scheme has produced a newsletter and established group 
supervision/network events for independent visitors - 2 have 
taken place so far. Additional training has been offered through 
the fostering service. Independent visitors have been invited and 
attended the yearly celebration event.

In March 2019 at our Recognition Event we dedicated an award in 
memory of one of our inspirational Independent Visitors who had 
sadly passed away in December 2018. The Director recognised 
the contribution of this Independent Visitor and the words of the 
young person who spoke so fondly of her.

74



25

Developments for the 2019/20
• The current post holder works 0.5FTE. To develop the scheme further we need to recruit a full-time post 

holder. This will be progressed during the summer months.

• Continue to prioritise the recruitment of new independent visitors, specifically men and look at future 
advertising campaigns considering gaps in provision and needs of young people

• Continue to monitor the  list for children waiting, looking at matching when we have an appropriate 
independent visitor approved/available 

• Capture correct information through the electronic system

• Arrange annual meet and greet meetings for new and existing visitors

• Invite independent visitors and the children/young people they are matched with to fostering service craft and 
summer events to embed them in the service as a whole

• Explore mentoring for new independent visitors

• Establish a robust process for feedback and review of the scheme to inform future practice

• Promote the scheme internally

• Consider resource implications in terms of staffing levels and funding.

The Foster Carer Association  
The Leicestershire Foster Carer Association (LFCA) has been running for a number of years.  This followed the 
establishment of a committee who had determined the areas where foster carers and their families could be 
better supported.   

Many of our LFCA have fostered for the service for several years and bring to the association a wealth of 
experience. The membership of the association remains low, but as a service we have linked them into our Foster 
Carer Forum so they can offer support to locality groups.

Developments for 2019-20
• Regular attendance at the Foster Carer Forum

• LFCA to be invited to attend locality groups to seek new membership and promote their role

• LFCA to work with LCC and be the neutral person to undertake exit interviews when carers leave our service.

Our Locality Support Groups  
During 2018-19 our locality groups re-vitalised to ensure consistency of approach, local leadership through foster 
carers and focus on what will most help. We have 5 locality groups based across Leicestershire. They are vibrant 
groups who are supportive of the service yet feel comfortable to challenge or raise any concerns. 

Most meet monthly. Details of the meeting times are advertised in the Newsletter. When a new carer is approved 
their details are provided to the co-ordinator to make contact and welcome to the support group.  Many of our 
co-ordinators are also mentors so new carers are quickly inducted into their local group.

Bespoke training has been delivered at locality groups with guest speakers and our training co-ordinator. We have 
also supported the locality groups to hold Festive Season Parties, day trips and other social events.

The efforts of our co-ordinators are recognised annually at our Foster Carers Recognition Event.

75



26

Complaints and Allegations  
Over the last year we have provided many forums for carers to raise and resolve issues. Both the Team 
Managers from the Team Around the Child, and Kinship Team meet with carers to discuss any concerns. The 
Service Manager is also available to meet with carers both as a group or an individual foster family and meets 
regularly with the LFCA. As a result of managing concerns quickly and efficiently last year we received no formal 
complaints. 

We also had 4 allegations, of which:

• All were referred to LADO  

• 2 led to Position of Trust Meetings which led to Reviews Following Concerns  

• 3 had an outcome of no further action  

• 1 household were de-registered  

• 1 carer resigned. 

Our Quality Assurance  
Within the Fostering Service we continue to strive to achieve excellence and review the impact we have. We are 
constantly seeking ways to improve the service we provide to our children and families.  

Twice yearly we hold Service Days where the whole team can reflect upon our achievements, develop our 
learning and where is the evidence of the impact we have made and jointly review or agree the next years’ 
Service Delivery Plan.

As a service we also have specific service area Storyboards identifying: 

•  Where we were (our current position)  

• What we have done   

• What difference has this made  

• What are our next steps  

They are a very simple, clear way for teams to identify progress, learning, resources, and performance targets to 
improve the service.  

Within the service we have an agreed auditing schedule. The audits form part of the departmental Quality 
Assurance Strategy, to consistently raise practice using effective management oversight. The schedule is as 
follows:   

• Service Manager – 4 Themed audits per year  

• Team Managers – 1 Case file audit per month  

The findings from the audits are then presented back to the team with a timeline of improvements.  A report is 
provided to our senior management team with actions to be followed to ensure improvement.

This year the audit themes included:

• Chronologies

• Review of chronologies - after feeding back initial numbers is the quality and quantity have increased

• Voice and Choice - how we capture the voice not only of the carer but the whole foster family

• Foster carer reviews – compliance and the feedback from other partners.

76



27

A Final Word from the Service Manager, Joss Longman  

I am very pleased that through intensive consultation with our carers we implemented our revised skills based 
payments scheme. This has been positively received by both our mainstream and kinship carers. We now hope 
to build upon our skilled carers with training and development to build our cohort of enhanced carers.

Our retention of carers has improved. We deregistered fewer carers than was predicted and we recruited above 
our annual target for our Supported Lodgings Providers. Our Team Around the Child has developed its support 
to carers, and we see the impact of this through our carers actively engaging in service days, staff interviews, 
participation events and our retention survey

Our Dedicated Placement Support Team has supported over 70 children where placement instability had been 
identified and at risk of disruption, and they have supported several children stepping down from complex need, 
high cost placements into supported lodgings placements or return home. Our specialist carers have supported 5 
young people in foster placements who either had stepped down from residential care, or would have escalated 
to residential care.

Our recruitment team have benefitted from engaging with recruitment consultants to ensure we have clearer 
processes and saw the launch of marketing plans and regular marketing meetings chaired by myself.

Moving forward our assessment team will be focussed on supporting our foster carers through the assessment 
process, embedding our “We are Family” philosophy at those early stages.

For the forthcoming year:

• Continue to use all forms of media in our intensive recruitment campaign to achieve:

• 25 mainstream carers

• 4 Specialist carers

• 3 Supported lodgings

• We want to develop our Enhanced Carers Scheme and recruit and/or train more specialist carers to 
support our children and young people in most need

• Continue to develop our Signs of Safety Approach to all areas of our service, including reflective 
supervision and embedding PODS

• Develop our therapeutic parenting style with the support of MISTLE and build upon the skill set of the 
workers within the team

• We will continue to keep our caseloads at a manageable level to enable our social workers to deliver the 
right support at the right time for our carers.

I am very proud of my Team Managers, who take great pride in their positions.

Joss Longman, Service Manager, Fostering Service

77



28

Leicestershire
Fostering  
& Adoption 

FosteringLeicestershire.com

T0
42

5

78



 

 

 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE: 5 NOVEMBER 2019 

 

LEICESTERSHIRE ADOPTION AGENCY STATUTORY REPORT 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the activity of the 

Leicestershire and Rutland Adoption Agency for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 
March 2019.  The Annual Report is attached as Appendix 1 to the report.  

 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
2. Leicestershire County Council is responsible for the Local Authority Adoption 

Agency. It undertakes statutory responsibilities related to adoption.   
 

3. Under the 2011 National Minimum Standards, Fostering Services and Adoption 
Agencies are required to provide one half year and one annual report to the 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee regarding their activity 
and work.  

 

Background  

 
4. The County Council operates an integrated Fostering, Adoption and 

Placements Service. This arrangement has been in operation since April 2015 
following a service review.  The adoption service, which for 1 April 2018 to 31 
March 2019 includes services for Rutland, is called the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Adoption Agency (the Adoption Agency). 

 
Summary of the Report 
 

5. The service recognises that it operates within a challenging market, with 
adopter recruitment across the country being difficult and the number of 
children requiring adopter homes increasing.  As such, ambitious priorities and 
targets were set in the following areas:  

  

 Adopter recruitment 

79 Agenda Item 13



 

 Quality and timely assessments of prospective adopters 
 Timely matching and placement 
 Adopter support. 

 
6. A range of work has been completed over 2018/19, the highlights of which are:  

 

 An ambitious marketing and recruitment plan, resulting in the 
successful recruitment of adopters and matching of children 

 An increased adoption support offer including increased birth records 
counselling, increased therapeutic capacity and embedding of a 
support worker (who makes contact at specific times, post placement, 
to review the support plan and the adoption support needs of the 
family), and the introduction of First Family for the birth family 

 Shared Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland adopter training offer 

 Shared Leicestershire, Leicester, Rutland and Voluntary Agency 
Family Finding Meeting 

 Revitalised Birth Records Counselling 
 

2018-19  Achievements highlights 
 
7. Recruitment: in 2018/19 there were 353 adopter enquiries and 143 households 

attended an open evening. 93 initial visits were undertaken that led to 49 
households starting the stage 1 assessment. Following this 34 households 
were approved. On 31st March 2019, there were 20 adopter applicants in stage 
1 and 25 in stage 2. 

 
8. Family Finding:  in 2018/19 35 adoption orders were finalised for children and 

32 children were placed with their prospective adopters. 20 children were 
placed with Leicestershire County Council approved adopters, and 12 via the 
inter-agency process. Included in this were four sibling groups,  all of which 
were made up of two siblings. Seven children with ethnicities other than White 
British were placed with adopters during 2018/2019 and these have been 
through interagency matches.  Six children were placed under Foster for 
Adoption (FFA). There was one disruption of a placement and two disruptions 
during introductions. On 31st March 2019, there were five adopter households 
waiting.  The longest waiting adopter was approved in December 2018 and was 
waiting for a specific age range and cultural background. On 31st March 2019, 
31 children awaiting an adoption placement although a link had been identified 
for 11. 

 
9. Support: During 2018/19, 60 Birth Records Counselling were completed and 

there were 0 Birth Records Counselling on a waiting list.  Six Birth Parents have 
accessed First Family and 26 referrals were made to Coram’s Adoption 
Support Gateway.  £338,000 was drawn down from the Adoption Support Fund 
to provide a range of different support for children post adoption and 72 
children were provided with advice and guidance from the Virtual School.  81 
Special Guardianship Order carers were offered 3-year support.  

 
10. The 2018-19 performance overview (Adoption Scorecard) is as follows:–  
 

80



 

 The average time between a child entering care and moving in with 
 their adoptive family for 2015-2018 is 413 days. The England average 
 is 486.  

 The average time between Leicestershire receiving court authority to 
 place a child and match to an adoptive family is 153 days. The England 
 average is 201 days.  

 Children who wait less than 14 months between entering care and 
 moving in with their adopted family currently stands at 64%. This is 
 significantly better than the England 3-year average of 56%. 

 Leicestershire adopters wait for less time than the England average 
 before being matched after approval (62% compared to 69%). 

 Securing adoptive placements for children from ethnic minority 
 backgrounds is at 14% compared with an England average of 7%. 

 
Targets and priorities for 2019-20 
 
11. Leicestershire’s Adoption Agency has a two targets for 2019-20:- 

a. To approve 50 adopters during 2019-2020 as set out in the Adoption 
and Permanence Strategy 2018-2020; and 

b. To strive to improve Adoption Scorecard Performance. 
 

Resource Implications 
 
12. The Adoption Team makes a significant contribution to Leicestershire’s 

sufficiency duty by ensuring those children with adoption plans or who are likely 
to have adoption plans are prepared for adoption and are matched to their 
forever families in a timely way. Because of this work, children spend less time 
in care, reducing placement and other resource costs for the authority.  

 
Conclusion 
 
13.  The Adoption Service has achieved significant success in 2018-19, particularly 

in relation to the recruitment of adopters, the performance against the national 
adoption scorecard and the offer of support. The Department remains focused 
on the recruitment of adopters as a key priority over the forthcoming year.  

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
14. None. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
15. There are no equality or human rights implications arising from the report. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Leicestershire and Rutland Adoption Agency Annual Report 2018/19 
 
Officers to Contact 
 

81



 

Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director, Children’s Social Care 
Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk 
Tel: 0116 3055479 
 
Nicci Collins, Head of Service, Children in Care 
Nicci.Collins@leics.gov.uk 
Tel: 0116 3054504 
 
Michelle Robinson, Service Manager, Adoption Service 
michelle.robinson@leics.gov.uk 
Tel: 0116 2323232 
 

82

mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Nicci.Collins@leics.gov.uk
mailto:michelle.robinson@leics.gov.uk


1

Leicestershire
Fostering  
& Adoption 

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND  
ADOPTION AGENCY 
ANNUAL QUALITY ASSURANCE 
AND PERFORMANCE REPORT 
1ST APRIL 2018  
– 31ST MARCH 2019

83



1

INTRODUCTION
Leicestershire County Council is responsible for a Local Authority Adoption Agency.  It undertakes statutory and 
regulated responsibilities relating to adoption. Until March 31st 2019 it had a Service Level Agreement (SLA) 
with Rutland County Council.  This Service Level Agreement ended on 31st March 2019 as Rutland moved their 
agreement to form an agreement with Lincolnshire County Council.

This report is therefore issued by the Leicestershire & Rutland Adoption Agency.

Under the 2011 National Minimum Standards 25.6 all Adoption Agencies are required to provide one six  
month and one annual report to the Executive  regarding the activity and work of the Adoption Agency and 
Adoption Panel. 

This report is the annual version to 31st March 2019.

84



2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
The Adoption Service has continued to recruit potential adopters and has seen an increase in the number of 
adopter enquiries and attendance at open evenings. In the period between 1st April 2017 and 31st March 2018 
353 adopter enquiries were received. 143 adopter households attended one of the 6 open evenings held during 
this period. 93 households requested an Initial visit and 49 households started the Stage one process. This 
represents an increase in the number of enquiries and attendance at an open evening but a slight decrease in 
the number of initial visits requested and stage one starts. We have aimed to provide better information at the 
beginning of the process to ensure that the right people at the right time are coming through the assessment 
process. The decrease in the number of people coming through to stage one does not reflect a decrease in 
the number of adopters approved this year which has in fact increased. There is a sensitive and thorough 
initial phase that allows potential adopters to understand the needs of adopted children, to reflect on their own 
circumstances and to help to determine if they are ready for this step. As such, fewer candidates may come 
through but those who do are better prepared for the adopter journey.

In relation to Leicestershire’s performance marked against the Adoption Scorecard we continue to 
provide a good service to children and adopters within our service:

• A1. Leicestershire Adoption Agency’s average time between a child entering care and moving in with their 
adoptive family for 2015-2018 is 413 days. This represents a slight reduction in time children are waiting 
in Leicestershire. The average time for the period 2015-2018 was 413.4 days. The England average is 
486. This is a positive position for Leicestershire and Rutland Adoption Agency.

• A2. The average time between Leicestershire receiving court authority to place a child and Leicestershire 
Adoption agency deciding upon a match to an adoptive family is 153 days. The England average is 201 
days. This is also positive. The average time was longer than it was in 2017 but this is due to difficulties 
in finding placements for 3 children with particular needs. Adoptive placements were found for 2 of these 
children with the third having a change of care plan.

• A3. Children who wait less than 14 months between entering care and moving in with their adopted  
family currently stands at 65% - again this is an improvement compared to last years figures which  
were 64%. This is significantly better than the England 3-year average of 56%  

Measurements against ‘Adopters’ indicate that Leicestershire adopters wait for less time than the England average 
before being matched after approval (62% compared to 69%).

85



3

In summary, consistently across all indicators, Leicestershire present as performing better than the three-year 
average for England.

Leicestershire remains in a strong position compared with national figures in relation to the 3-year average  
of adoptions from care during 2015 – 2018 with Leicestershire having 14% compared to the England average 
of 16%. Leicestershire has also performed strongly with securing adoptive placements for children from ethnic 
minority backgrounds 2015-2018. 14% compared with an England average of 7%.

The Adoption Agency continues to actively recruit and are continuously striving to recruit adopters for harder  
to place children such as older children, sibling groups and children with disabilities:

The Children’s Decision-Making panel commenced in January 2018. Representatives from the Adoption Are 
are part of this panel and play an active role in contributing to early permanence decisions and tracking children 
to ensure that any potential drift is identified early and appropriate action taken. The presence of the Adoption 
Service at this panel also ensures that Adoption remains on the agenda and is considered for older children 
who have historically been considered too old. Sibling groups, particularly where there is an older child, have 
not routinely been considered for a plan of adoption together in the past. Children with complex health needs 
or disabilities remain an area that continues be challenging in relation to the recruitment of adopters. However, 
4 children with complex health needs or disabilities are now in their adoptive placement after their foster carers 
have successfully been assessed as adopters for them.

7 children with ethnicities other than White British were placed with adopters during 2018/2019. These have 
been through interagency matches. 5 adoptive households with ethnicities other than White British have been 
approved this financial year. 

Leicestershire has actively engaged in the Regional Home Finding meetings where representatives from 
Lincolnshire, Leicester City and 3 Voluntary Agencies meet monthly to identify prospective matches for hard  
to place children.  To date 5 placements have been identified through this process

86



4

BACKGROUND –  
YEAR TO 31ST MARCH 2019
Adoption Plans
1. Twenty-Three adoption panels were held during this period.

2. In this period 42 children were presented to the Agency Decision Maker for an adoption plan. 

3. Of the 42 children considered by the Agency Decision Maker, 90% met the National Minimum Standard 
timescale of coming to panel within two months of adoption being agreed as the plan. Those out with the 
timescale are due to deferment for technical reasons acceptable under the regulations. The requirements  
of the Restrictions on the Preparation of Adoption Reports Regulations 2005 were fully met.

Chart 1 – Ages of children at point of approval for adoption

Ages of children at point of approval April 2018 - March 2019

39%

34%

35%

26%

12

0

27

3

33%

0-2 years
3-5 years
6-9 years
10+ years

37%

19%19%

28%

6%
17%

15%

8%

22%

9% 14% 12%

23%11%

14%

18% 27%

39%

12%

17%

5%

6 
m

on
th

s

6 months 12 months

2 years 2.5 years

18 months

12
 m

on
th

s

18
 m

on
th

s

2 
ye

ar
s

2.
5 

ye
ar

s

48%
44% 43%

27

27

Summer 19

Key:
NSR = No support required
VML/NR = Voice message left or No reply 
(no opportunity to leave message)
RFS = Request for Support
SIP = Support in Place
AG/VS = Advice given or verbal support given

Christmas 18

Summer 18 22

34%

87



5

PERFORMANCE
Children Placed and Adopted
• 35 adoption orders were finalised for children in this period. Two of these children were from Rutland and  

16 were interagency placements. 

• 34 adopters were approved in this period compared to 33 the previous year. 2 of these approvals were child 
specific. 28 were White/British, 4 were Asian/Indian and 1 mixed Black African & White British household.   

• 32 children have been placed with their prospective adopters during this period. 32 of these children have 
been Leicestershire children and 0 children from Rutland

• 20 children were placed with Leicestershire County Council approved adopters, and 12 via the inter-agency 
process.

• 4 sibling groups placed – all 4 sets were of 2 sibling groups

• At the 31st March 2019 there were 20 children awaiting an adoption placement. Although a link had been 
identified for 1. For those children without a link identified they are routinely taken to the Regional Home 
finding meeting, referred to the NAR. Options such as Activity Days and Exchange days are also considered. 
Themes arising for children waiting the longest consist of unknown future health needs/ life limiting conditions, 
low adoption options for siblings’ groups of older children and an increase in the number of adopters being 
approved for babies. Of the children waiting there were 2 sets of sibling groups of 2 , one sibling group 
of 4 and a child with significant health complications. There has been a delay in the conclusion of court 
proceedings which has resulted in some children having a best interest decision of adoption but no Placement 
Order, for example for the sibling group of 4 a best interest decision was made in August 2018 but a final 
hearing not listed until August 2019. Children waiting are reviewed monthly by the Service Manager of the 
Adoption Service and a monthly report is provided to the Head of Service. Children who are experiencing 
avoidable delay are bought to the attention of the relevant Service Manager.

• The recruiting of adopters is reviewed quarterly to ensure that we remain clear about the needs of our children 
and that we recruit to these. This is reviewed by attendance at CDM and cross referencing with the pre-
proceeding’s tracker and adoption tracker. Cases where delay or drift is identified are bought to the attention 
of the relevant Service Manager by the Adoption Service Manager. ADM also tracks children who should have 
been presented for a best interest decision and have not been. The Service Manager of the Adoption Service 
and ADM work closely together and meet weekly. We continue to see a rise in sibling groups with a best 
interest decision. 

• Link maker is used by Leicestershire as a successful means to secure adoption matches however adopters 
can access it prior to approval which has resulted in some adopters being assessed by ourselves forming 
an early link with children outside of Leicestershire and therefore not being available for our children. As part 
of Leicestershire’s alignment with Lincolnshire, Leicester City and Rutland our adopters are not restricted to 
searching within Leicestershire only initially as other authorities to do. This is to enable transparency between 
the L3R members and early matching of children within these areas.

88



6

Adoption Approvals 
• During this period 35 adopter households were approved, 5 completed within the six-month timescale,  

2 were fast tracked due to being second time adopters. 

• 35 adopters were approved in this period compared to 33 the previous year. 9 of these approvals were child 
specific.   

• As of 1st April 2019, we had 5 adopter households waiting.  The longest waiting adopter was approved in 
December 2018 and was waiting for a specific age range and cultural background. All these adopters will be 
matched to children requiring a forever family in 19/20. These adopters have profiles on Linkmaker and are 
referred to NAR if they choose so. Whilst they are waiting they receive ongoing support from a social worker. 

The requirements of the Restrictions on the Preparation of Adoption Reports Regulations 2005 were fully met  
for all assessments.

Quality of Reports
Adoption plans were agreed for 42 children during this period.  However, a sibling group of 2 was subsequently 
changed to care plan of long term fostering and another child was placed with a relative under the auspice of a 
Special Guardianship Order. Of the children whose plan was agreed, there continues to be some challenges with 
the quality of the Child Permanence Records (CPR). Of those children who have been part of the pilot scheme, 
where family finding social workers are responsible for the completion of the CPRs rather than fieldwork social 
work who have a range of different pressures, there has been a noted improvement in the description of the 
child and the involvement of birth family. Workshops have been developed to further support social workers with 
the quality of other sections of the CPR that give the narrative of the child and families journey. There remains 
a mixed quality in relation to CPRs being completed by fieldwork social workers and there has continued to be 
occasions where best interest decisions have not been made because re-work has been required.

For those social workers involved in the pilot scheme their feedback was positive and we have also had positive 
feedback from birth family. Family Finders continue to develop their practice. The decision has been made to roll 
the pilot out, that is, the permanence function will transfer from all fieldwork social work teams to the Adoption 
Service in 2019.

There had initially been some concern about several children who had had CPRs completed but before 
presentation at ADM the care plan had changed to the child remaining with a birth relative. The Permanence 
Team Manager now has monthly meetings with fieldwork managers to discuss the cases and to track earlier 
any children whose care plan is likely to change and reduce the number of CPRs that require completion or full 
completion. For those children whose plan has been completed by the Adoption Service, it is uploaded onto the 
child’s electronic records although this may not be in the format of a CPR. This ensures that all information is 
available should a child seek to access their records later.

89



7

Children Waiting for Adoption 
1. At the 31st March 2019 there were 31children awaiting an adoption placement although a link had been 

identified for 11 of them.

2. Family finding is being actively pursued with placements being sought via the National Adoption Register, the 
local East Midlands Regional Agency and Link Maker. At the point of an ADM decision being given to agree a 
care plan of adoption, children are profiled by members of the Permanence Team and are then, if appropriate, 
an anonymous profile is placed on Link Maker. The full profile is released at the point that a Placement 
Order is granted by the court. Leicestershire always seek to place with their own adopters initially - if this is 
not successful a search within the East Midlands Regional Agency is progressed with a national search only 
being completed if no suitable adopters are identified after this point.  Leicestershire is clear that matches 
between children and adopters should be based on the adopters’ ability to meet the needs of the child and is 
a child centred and child led process. We have been successful in matching and have not needed to regularly 
participate in national exchange days or adoption activity days having only three attended throughout. Children 
must be referred to the National Adoption Register if they have not had a placement identified 90 days after 
ADM. This can cause some difficulties if the Placement Order has not been granted. Adopters are referred 90 
days post approval but have the option to not be referred.

3. In order to promote best matches for children Leicestershire County Council has removed the previously set 
cost of selling our adopters and bought it in line with other Local Authorities. This has had an impact on our 
business model and now requires that we sell 6 adopter households net per financial year.

4. On 31st March 2019 we had 20 adopter applicants in stage one and a further 25 in stage two of the 
assessment process. Leicestershire has a target of approving 50 adopters during 2019-2020 as set out  
in the Adoption and Permanence Strategy 2018-2012. 

5. In this period, we successfully matched 2 children referred by Rutland County Council.

6. 6 children were placed under Foster for Adoption (FFA) protocols during this period in Leicestershire. All but 
one of these has gone on to be an adoptive placement, with one baby returning to his birth family at the 
end of court proceedings. There is currently 1 approved adoptive household willing to provide this type of 
placement. The training that prospective adopters receive as part of stage 2 does have a session on FFA and 
often involves an adopter who has adopted a child through this process. This is an area that will come under 
review for development in the upcoming months to ensure an appropriate strategy has been developed and  
is in place for April 2019. 

Adoption Disruptions 
Adoption disruptions are when the placement ends prior to the Adoption Order being granted. Adoption social 
workers remain involved with the family through to the granting of the Order and the subsequent Celebration 
Hearing. In the case of adopters struggling with the behaviour of their children the Adoption Service is available to 
provide intense support based on therapeutic techniques. All the permanent Family Finding social workers have 
been trained in level 1 Theraplay and have access to a fully qualified play therapist who is based within  
the service. 

There has been one adoption disruption during this period and a further 2 disruptions during introductions but 
before placement. 

90



8

Post Adoption Support 
1. Pre and post adoption support are provided in several ways within Leicestershire:  

• A dedicated support worker contacts the adopter 6 weeks post placement. Research and the work of 
another regional authority suggests that at 6 weeks post placement depression can become evident. The 
support worker is Theraplay (level 1) trained. If necessary, she can remain involved to support managing 
behaviour and completing direct work with children, and generally building the confidence and resilience 
of the adopter. The adoption support plan is reviewed, and any advice or further support is offered at this 
time. Positive feedback has been received from adopters about the support they have received that reflects 
this impact. This worker continues to make contact every 6 months for the first 3 years post placement. 

• A qualified art therapist is now part of the team.

• The adoption social worker offers support up to three years post adoption order, especially in cases of 
complex need or where adoption breakdown or disruption is a threat.

• Leicestershire has also more recently begun to offer lifelong support to all adopters within Leicestershire. 
Previously adopters who were post 3 years of the granting of an Adoption Order had to refer in through 
First Response Children’s Duty (Leicestershire’s referral ‘front door’) if they needed support and were then 
allocated a worker in fieldwork teams. As safeguarding demand increased in these teams, complaints from 
adopters increased. Adopters can now contact the Adoption Team directly for support and will be given 
advice or allocated a worker for assessment, regardless of when the adoption order was granted. If there 
are other needs within the family, it may be that the family has two workers – one from the Fieldwork Team 
and one from the Adoption Team.

• There are also two post support social worker who work with families therapeutically using Theraplay and 
DDP techniques that support attachment and positive parenting. The social workers complete Assessment 
of Need for those families requiring more specialist therapy and will submit applications to the Adoption 
Support Fund for funding. Where the child’s needs appear complicated and the Adoption Team is not 
certain of the appropriate therapy or treatment pathway, CAMHS offer a consultation session and provide 
clinical advice. 

• The Adoption Team also works closely with voluntary agencies who over the year have provided 
independent assessments. 

• During 2018-19 the Virtual School embraced its new duties to previously looked after children and receive 
daily calls from schools and adopters seeking advice (particularly around attachment needs and how to 
manage this successfully in school settings and at times, direct involvement through mediation is offered.  
Between 23rd August 2018 – 22nd July 2019 The Virtual school handled 198 phone calls, 111 emails 
and attended 14 meetings on behalf of 72 different children/families. 

• The demand for post adoption support 
continues to grow in all areas. Leicestershire 
County Council has Therapeutic Support 
Budget that can be accessed to support 
children emotionally prior to adoption. Each 
child can have an initial payment of up to 
£450 with a further £450 being available if 
required. The Service Manager for Children in 
Care has a role in monitoring applications and 
the progress of any therapy commissioned, 
and the Head of the Virtual School monitors 
the use of Pupil Premium to support children 
emotionally.

• There is agreement for the introduction of two 
more role specific workers to the service – a 
social worker dedicated to the lifelong support 
of adoptive children placed as part of a 
sibling group or with complex health needs or 
disabilities, and the introduction of a dedicated 
life story and information sharing worker.

91



9

2.  Quarterly newsletters are sent to all adopters as are invitations to two social gatherings through the year.  
The newsletters have received positive feedback.

3. To 31st March 2019, LCC has drawn down £338,302.72 of Adoption Support Fund to pay for direct 
interventions with adoptees and their families in Leicestershire. This is an increase in the amount that was 
applied for in the previous financial year (£209,763).  This increase was predicted at the time of reporting in 
2018 as there had been a back log of applications waiting to be processed due to the worker responsible for 
the administration having maternity related issues. The back log was cleared in May 2018. 

4. Leicestershire has a Service Level Agreement in place with CAMHS who provide a consultation service to 
workers and adopters. Leicestershire has also developed a stronger working relationship with Coram and 
has been able to refer adopters to the Adoption Support Gateway, where adopters have been able to see a 
principle therapist. She offers advice and support on the most appropriate type of therapy. Leicestershire has 
referred 25 families to this service, with positive feedback.

5. Birth Parents are routinely offered support prior to the adoption of their children. This support is offered 
through a leaflet provided at the point of ADM ratifying a care plan of adoption. The Permanence Team has 
also set up the First Family support group. This is where birth family can access support if they have been 
affected by the adoption of a child. This is run by our SGO support worker who is a qualified play therapist. 
There are currently 6 birth parents on the waiting list with 2 having been seen already.

6. A full-time job share Birth Records Counsellor (BRC) post continues to work very positively. Cases are 
allocated at point of referral. The waiting list has reduced dramatically over the year and positive feedback has 
been received. At the point of the BRC working starting (January 2018) there were 60 adopted adults waiting 
for their birth records. Some of these had been waiting since 2015. The worker and team manager quickly 
identified those cases where the adult had been adopted before 1975 and ensured that their records were 
shared in a timely and sensitive manner due to the age of the adoptee and the nature of the adoption. The 
Service no longer has a waiting list.

This service continues to receive high volumes of positive feedback – 

Thank you for your research and support. From being scared of 
where I may have come from, to now being proud of who I am…

7. Intermediary services where adopted children are supported to find and meet their birth parents are not 
carried out in house in Leicestershire.  Some initial advice may be given but as with other local authorities’  
we signpost adoptees who request this service to third sector agencies.  

92



10

Permanence Team
The role of the team is to undertake all family finding for children who need permanence via the adoption route. 
They also family find for adopters post approval and support adopters through the placing and supporting 
children through to Adoption Order. In July 2018 a Child Permanence pilot started. This involved Family Finding 
social workers co-working children with a potential plan of adoption with social workers from Charnwood and 
Melton fieldwork teams. The role of the Family Finder is to work closer with the children, their birth family and 
foster carer to complete the CPR. The aim of this pilot was to improve the quality of the CPR and the timeliness  
of plans being presented to ADM.  To date (July 31st) the family finding team have worked with 42 children.  
3 have been presented to ADM, a further 18 have concluded with a care plan other than adoption. There has 
been an improvement in the description of the child and involvement of birth family. Workshops have been 
developed to further support social workers with the quality of other sections of the CPR that give the narrative  
of the child and families journey.

The work of this team also includes family finding for long term fostered children.

In addition to day to day operations, the team is very committed to ongoing developmental projects  
such as:

• Processes for the permanence planning of children in long term foster care

• The introduction of Life Appreciation Days for adopted children and, 

• Further embedding of the Signs of Safety methodology in our practice. 

The team is becoming more involved in the completion of Sibling Together or Apart assessments and a number 
of team members have undertaken Theraplay and DDP training to ensure that they can appropriately prepare 
and support adopters to understand the needs of our children and parent them therapeutically.

93



11

Statement by the Agency Decision Maker, Helen Gronhaug
The independent position of the ADM provides an over view of children’s care planning and outcomes through 
consideration of adoption and fostering panel recommendations; children’s adoption plans as well as foster carer 
reviews. This allows for the identification of practice and policy themes.  This oversight of children’s permanence 
planning is further enhanced through ADM’s Permanence Panel membership. 

Children’s Adoption plans

The ADM has continued to provide detailed quality assurance feedback for individual CPRs presented at the 
point of an adoption plan decision. However, there continues to be a need for robust quality assurance prior 
to ADM consideration.  It was hoped practice guidance sessions delivered by ADM and Service Manager for 
Adoption to locality service managers and team managers would improve the quality of CPRs.  In practice, 
locality social workers find it difficult to devote the attention needed to complete this important work alongside 
submitting evidence for court proceedings. Birth family engagement in adoption planning can be challenging 
with practitioners who are case responsible for safeguarding and care proceedings.  Furthermore while the 
individual case feedback provided by ADM was intended to model QA standards, in reality, it appears reliance 
has developed on this rather than responsibility for effective quality assurance being focussed further back in the 
workflow through team management oversight.  One of the primary objectives of the ADM role Action Plan is to 
strengthen quality assurance at the right place at the right time and by the right role.  

Data compiled as part of the CPR pilot has provided a baseline of those CPRs which are of sufficient to make  
the adoption plan decision and those which require further information for this or where amendments are 
required before they are fit for family finding purposes. The Permanence Team Manager is to ensure oversight  
of amendments required given amendments have not always been completed in a timely way.

The decision to roll out the CPR pilot model offers further scope to improve quality of CPRs with a smaller 
number of workers focussing on this work and developing their skill set. To fully realise the benefits of this 
model, it is essential that mechanisms are in place to guard against a disconnect between the social work team 
responsible for care planning and the permanence social worker responsible for providing a coherent narrative 
of this work.  The pilot has given a clear message that regular communication is needed between the teams so 
that the locality team’s knowledge of the child’s lived experience translates into the CPR. Coordination of care 
planning and timetabling also needs to be tightened. Adoption plans have been submitted for ADM when Review 
of Arrangements and service manager oversight of final care planning are outstanding and/ or assessments 
are not concluded.  The fact that the CPR forms the basis for a Placement Order application to court means it 
needs to be ready to evidence the rationale for an adoption plan shortly after ADM consideration. This can create 
challenges in meeting court timescales and a small number of CPRs have needed re-work before filing with 
court.  I am working with the Permanence Team Manager on delivering practice development sessions and to 
harness lessons learnt from the pilot. This will need to be shared with locality fieldwork teams as this model rolls 
out county wide.

There has been an increase in occasions when ADM has been approached to review the decision of an adoption 
plan on the basis of further assessments agreed through court. This reflects a complex picture and one which 
has implications for volume of work.

While there have been some ambitious adoption plans presented, further work is needed to explore consistency 
across localities in consideration of adoption plans for children who might be considered harder to place, 
specifically older children or children with disabilities. Once adoption planning work transfers wholly to the 
Permanence Team, its manager will have a valuable overview of which children are being considered for a plan 
of adoption. The work of Permanence Panel in considering permanence plans of long term foster care for children 
will offer further insight in this regard and also with the development of the Permanence Scorecard.

94



12

Care planning of sibling groups remains an area for development to ensure issues of “Together or Apart” are 
considered at the outset of a child’s journey. This should ensure that information gathering is purposeful from the 
start of care planning and provides a robust evidence base for decision making. I have worked with the Practice 
Excellence Team and the Sibling Assessment Planning Aid has received SMT approval. Work is now needed to 
ensure the message of early assessment of sibling relationships is shared with key partners in the judiciary with 
implications for contact proposals in court proceedings.

Fostering for Adoption

There were 4 approvals for Fostering for Adoption arrangements presented to ADM in this period which 
represents an increase from the previous reporting period before when no such placements were made. For 
individual 2 children, Foster for Adoption approval was used to avoid further placement moves prior to approval 
of matching for adoption.  This indicates an improvement in considering Fostering for Adoption at each and 
every stage in a child’s journey.  A further 2 children were placed with Inter –Agency adopters who were dually 
approved as foster carers on a fostering basis. This therefore did not come for ADM consideration.

1 child placed with adopters under Foster for Adoption arrangements was returned to birth family care. While 
it is recognised adopters bear the risk that a placement made under fostering regulations may not mean 
permanence with them via adoption is the outcome, this highlights the need for robust family network planning 
and assessments at early stages.

95



13

Adopter approvals

Of  the approval presented to Adoption Panel, this year, Adoption Panel deferred 4 applications for further work.  
A further application was noted as a withdrawal after Panel has previously deferred for more information.  ADM 
requested further information following Panel’s recommendation on at least 13 applications. Approvals were 
subsequently agreed on 10 of these applications with 2 subsequent withdrawals and 1 application where re-
submission to ADM remains outstanding. The outstanding work commonly related to applicants’ understanding 
of adoptive parenting, child care experience, consideration to children already established within the family and 
questions around applicants’ resilience and vulnerability of support network. Other assessments which present 
complexities and challenges are second time adopters or where foster carers are being assessed for a child 
already placed with them.

While some assessments have been completed by in-house assessors, there have been some assessments 
completed by the same commissioned social workers which have been subject to repeated quality assurance. 
The role of the engagement social workers will be key in offering consultation and early quality assurance 
to assessors who are commissioned to complete such assessments. I have introduced quarterly reflective 
discussions with Panel Advisor, Panel Chair, Vice Chairs and Service Manager. These meetings offer an 
opportunity to understand any differences between Panel and ADM deliberations and drive practice development 
and appropriate scrutiny. The meetings provide a forum to explore factors which are fundamental to suitability 
to adopt or whether they relate to matching considerations. Panel’s quality assurance function can therefore be 
more robustly carried out. 

96



14

Adoption matches

Panel deferred 1 match for further work during this period. Panel need to evidence their oversight and 
consideration in situations where further work has been previously identified but has been left outstanding.   
E.g. CPRs which have been updated. This then means that there can be a delay in ADM decision making to 
ensure work has been completed. ADM requested a significant amount of information on at least proposed 7 
matches before making a decision. On one occasion, this required a professionals meeting which I attended to 
clarify information before approving the match. Again the ADM Action Plan highlights a need for strengthened 
team manager quality assurance after ADM has agreed an adoption plan and through family finding stages to 
ensure identified work is completed in a timely way. 

It has now been introduced that CPRs are passed to the Adoption Medical Advisor in advance of the medical 
consultation meeting with prospective adopters. This simple measure should further enhance the comprehensive 
counselling provided by the Medical Advisor and further strengthen adopters’ preparation for meeting the needs 
of their adopted child in the short and longer term. 

Improvement has been seen with some support plans being more individualised to the child. There has been 
a growing acknowledgement seen of the impact of the children’s health development and lived experience 
(acknowledging the impact of neglect and trauma) on short and long term needs and thus what capacity is 
implied for the adopters.  It remains an area for improvement to ensure all that is known about both the child 
and adopters’ needs is reflected in a support plan. In particular, the needs of children who are already part 
of the adoptive family (by birth or through adoption) need to be consistently reflected in support plans. With 
the developments in the agency’s adoption support offer, it is hoped there will be more robust and responsive 
support plans presented as practitioners become more familiar with the support work available. Where ADM 
has made requirements for additions to the Adoption Support Plan, these are passed to the child’s Independent 
Reviewing Officer for their oversight and monitoring.

Given more ambitious matches are being progressed, Panel and ADM would benefit from inclusion of a draft 
introductions plan. An information session with Panel is planned within 2 months before the inclusion of draft 
introductions into Panel papers.

It has been encouraging to see occasions when adopters matched with children who may be considered harder 
to place, have received early input from the Post Adoption Support Worker. The use of individualised Theraplay 
activities has provided a valuable bridge between foster carer and adopters to promote consistency and stability 
for the child and facilitate the transfer to adopters.

It has been recognised that Adoption Panel has not had access to a legal advisor for some time. However to date 
no regular service is available.

Disruptions

Learning from disruptions is vital to inform Panel and ADM practice and future decision making. It is hoped  
that the process for learning from disruptions will be developed to ensure Panel and ADM are included in  
lessons learnt.

97



15

East Midlands Adoption Consortium (EMAC) 
The Adoption Agency of Leicestershire and Rutland continues to be a member of EMAC.  Central government is 
keen to see the success of such arrangements and so we have made a commitment to this group of 9 LA’s and 3 
Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA) and continue to work closely.

We have continued to be part of the Regionalisation Adoption Agency Programme and have been 
pro-active in ensuring that good practice that is child centred is embedded in the future vision 
Leicestershire has formed closer working relationships with Leicester City, Rutland and Lincolnshire 
and practice continues to be aligned across the agencies. This collaboration has seen the 
introduction of:

• Shared training program for adopters

• Introduction of Permanence Teams to Leicestershire 

• Embedding of Family Finding meetings (Leicestershire, Lincolnshire, Leicester, Rutland, Faith in Families 
and Coram), with the launch of a shared information sharing platform (for adult and child information) in 
July 2019

• Agreement on the number of adopters to be exchanged without charge was made in December 2019

• Creation of a shared website – Adoption East Midlands (https://www.adoptioneastmidlands.org.uk/)

Leicestershire has had one had a successful match through these meetings.

Developments 
The Special Guardianship service was set up in March 2018 with a purpose of supporting Special Guardians 
for the first 3 years after the order is granted and offering advice, newsletters and events to all special guardians 
regardless of the date of order.

Within Leicestershire county council there are a total of 228 carers with Special Guardianship Orders granted in 
their favour. This can be for one or more children so the number of children on a SGO in LCC would be greater 
than this.

Of those 228 families, as of June 2019, 81 are within the 3-year post order support time period,  
they are made up of:

• 2016 – 21

• 2017 – 34

• 2018 – 23

• 2019 – 3

98



16

The Offer
• Phone calls - six monthly phone calls are made during the first 3 years to the special guardians to ascertain 

how the children and the care they are receiving is progressing. The support worker prompts conversation 
about the children’s development, behaviour, contact with parents and any concerns or worries that they  
may be experiencing, in order to identify any help the service may be able to offer or signpost to.

Below is an analysis of the 6 monthly phone calls:     

Of the calls that resulted in no support required a significant amount voiced that they were comforted to know 
that this service was in place should they find themselves requiring assistance in any way.

Of the calls made the following percentages show phone calls resulting in action either by giving verbal 
support, offering reassurance, advice regarding the SGO, techniques regarding behaviour management 
and reviewing support already in place.      

Support requested or in place, advice and verbal support given                                

Our service is relatively new, so statistics derived from current information is likely to change as our  
service becomes more embedded and Special Guardians are more accustomed and at ease with it. 
However, it currently would seem to show that support requirements peak at 12 months after order and 
gradually decrease but with still quite a high percentage at around the 2.5 years - 6 months prior to end  
of formal support. 

Ages of children at point of approval April 2018 - March 2019

39%

34%

35%

26%

12

0

27

3

33%

0-2 years
3-5 years
6-9 years
10+ years

37%

19%19%

28%

6%
17%

15%

8%

22%

9% 14% 12%

23%11%

14%

18% 27%

39%

12%

17%

5%

6 
m

on
th

s

6 months 12 months

2 years 2.5 years

18 months

12
 m

on
th

s

18
 m

on
th

s

2 
ye

ar
s

2.
5 

ye
ar

s

48%
44% 43%

27

27

Summer 19

Key:
NSR = No support required
VML/NR = Voice message left or No reply 
(no opportunity to leave message)
RFS = Request for Support
SIP = Support in Place
AG/VS = Advice given or verbal support given

Christmas 18

Summer 18 22

34%

Ages of children at point of approval April 2018 - March 2019

39%

34%

35%

26%

12

0

27

3

33%

0-2 years
3-5 years
6-9 years
10+ years

37%

19%19%

28%

6%
17%

15%

8%

22%

9% 14% 12%

23%11%

14%

18% 27%

39%

12%

17%

5%

6 
m

on
th

s

6 months 12 months

2 years 2.5 years

18 months

12
 m

on
th

s

18
 m

on
th

s

2 
ye

ar
s

2.
5 

ye
ar

s

48%
44% 43%

27

27

Summer 19

Key:
NSR = No support required
VML/NR = Voice message left or No reply 
(no opportunity to leave message)
RFS = Request for Support
SIP = Support in Place
AG/VS = Advice given or verbal support given

Christmas 18

Summer 18 22

34%

99



17

• Events- to date we have held two events – a summer event 2018, Christmas Party 2018 and we have 
arrangements for Summer Event 2019 with confirmed attendance and more expected on the day. Attendance 
and expected attendance for these events are detailed below:

Children in attendance

Statement of Purpose 
The Statement of purpose was reviewed and uploaded to the public facing LCC Website in January 2019  
and will be reviewed annually.

Rutland Arrangements
We continued to provide adoption services for Rutland County Council under a Service Level Agreement up  
until 31st March 2019 when the Service Level Agreement ceased. During the reporting period, 2 Rutland 
children were matched with adopters by this agency.

Adoption Panel
1. We currently have 9 independent adoption panel members consisting of 3 males & 6 females. All are W/B 

except I male. There is one panel chair and one vice chair. 

2. A panel training session for adoption panel members is to be booked for October 2019. Business meetings 
between panel chair, panel advisor and the service manager take place every 4 months

3. There has been a decrease of 3 panel members since 2018 as members have left for varying reasons.

4.  23 Adoption panels were held during this reporting period.

Panel member’s annual reviews are completed by the panel advisor and panel chair. Panel will contribute to 

analysis of the pilot scheme. 

Ages of children at point of approval April 2018 - March 2019

39%

34%

35%

26%

12

0

27

3

33%

0-2 years
3-5 years
6-9 years
10+ years

37%

19%19%

28%

6%
17%

15%

8%

22%

9% 14% 12%

23%11%

14%

18% 27%

39%

12%

17%

5%

6 
m

on
th

s

6 months 12 months

2 years 2.5 years

18 months

12
 m

on
th

s

18
 m

on
th

s

2 
ye

ar
s

2.
5 

ye
ar

s

48%
44% 43%

27

27

Summer 19

Key:
NSR = No support required
VML/NR = Voice message left or No reply 
(no opportunity to leave message)
RFS = Request for Support
SIP = Support in Place
AG/VS = Advice given or verbal support given

Christmas 18

Summer 18 22

34%

100



18

National/local Political Implications
Adoption has been a key part of the Government Agenda since 2012 and has seen significant change. 

There is a significant drive to increase the number of children who are able to achieve early permanency via 
fostering to adopt. This is an implicit feature of our assessment and training programme to ensure that all 
adopters are fully informed of the risks and benefits of offering such placements. We routinely ensure that 
adopters have the opportunity to hear from others who have offered this type of placement within their training.

Leicestershire continues to work pro-actively with other Local Authorities and VAA’s within the Regionalisation of 
Adoption Agencies process as Leicestershire remains committed to the needs of our children and ensuring that 
they continue to receive a high-quality service.  

Michelle Robinson

Service Manager –  Permanency 

July 2019.

101



adoptionLeicestershire.com

Leicestershire
Fostering  
& Adoption 

T0
45

8

102



 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
5 NOVEMBER 2019 

 
CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE STATUTORY COMPLAINTS AND 

COMPLIMENTS ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with a summary of the 

Children’s Social Care Statutory Complaints and Compliments Annual Report for 
2018/19. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 

2 The Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 sets 
out the policy framework against which children’s social care complaints should be 
considered. 

 
3 Local authorities must, each financial year, publish an Annual Report (Regulation 

13(3)).  
 

Background 
 

4 The Complaints Team, which sits within the Corporate Resources Department of the 
County Council, manage and co-ordinate complaints relating to 3 separate 
complaints system: 
 

a) Adult Social Care - a statutory process 
b) Children’s Social Care – a statutory process 
c) Corporate Complaints – a non-statutory process, which considers complaints 

relating to other services provided by the Council and where there is no other 
form of redress. 

 
5 The Children and Family Services Department is contacted daily by service users, 

carers and other parties with concerns or requests for information.  These queries 
are dealt with at a local level within care teams or through the Director’s office without 
recourse to the formal complaints process. The complaints team do, on occasion, 
also receive queries and concerns that suggest a child or young person may require 
immediate support or which raise safeguarding concerns. Such reports are best 
handled outside of the formal complaints procedure and are referred into the First 
Response team or allocated workers for urgent consideration as appropriate. 
 

6 The Annual Report for Children’s Social Care is attached as Appendix A to the report 
and provides a summary of the statistical information and headline issues emerging 
from the analysis of complaints activity for 2018/19, along with the Department’s 
planned activity to respond to this. 

103 Agenda Item 14



 
 
Complaints received and outcomes 
 
7 The number of complaints in 2018/19 were as follows: 

 134 complaints considered at Stage 1, compared to 92 in 2017/18 

 9 complaints considered at Stage 2, compared to 10 in 2017/18 

 4 complaints considered at Stage 3, compared to 2 in 2017/18 
 
8 Using the figures on numbers of referrals made to Childrens Social Care, 2.6% of 

those using Childrens services needed to make a complaint. This is an increase on 
last year (+1.3%). 
 

9 As shown in paragraph 7, the number of requests received at Stage 1 increased 
significantly this year, with particular increase between July to December 2018 (Q2 & 
Q3). 

 
10 Despite the above, there was a healthy reduction in complaints escalating to Stage 2. 

With nine complainants seeking escalation of their complaint (6.7%) this represents 
the lowest proportion for five years and reflects the increased efforts at local 
resolution. 
 

11 Analysis of the complaints received show the main area complained about continues 
to be “Professional Decision making”. The biggest change was the increase in 
complaints citing delay as the primary factor which rose from 10% (10) of the overall 
volume to 29% (29). 
 

12 During the year, four complaints were received directly from children or young 
people. This is a decrease on previous year (7) and this figure remains low. The 
Complaints Manager does however meet regularly with Children’s Rights Officers 
and has access to cases they are supporting informally. This is to ensure and 
validate that young people are not blocked in any way from accessing the formal 
complaints procedure. 
 

13 97 of the complaints at Stage 1 (77%) were responded to within the statutory 
maximum of 20 working days. This is identical performance from 2017-18. 

 
14 During the year the Council received criticism from the Local Government and Social 

Care Ombudsman regarding the time taken to resolve a complaint at Stage 1 and 
this has led to revised procedures for complaints handling being issued. This 
includes stronger escalation pathways for Complaints Officers.  

 
15 There are often good reasons why complaints can exceed 20 working days to 

resolve, for example meetings being arranged. Whilst personal contact is positive 
and should be encouraged, statutory guidance makes clear this does not “stop the 
clock” in terms of the 20-working day deadline. This highlights the importance of 
prioritising such meetings and where no resolution ensuring right to escalation is 
offered. 

 
16 Timescales for Stage 2 complaints have consistently been a challenge over recent 

years and this continued in 2017-18 with just 3 of 10 cases (30%) completed within 
the maximum 65 working days. 

 
 

104



 
 

17 To generate improvements in this area, the Complaints Manager has reviewed the 
resource pool of Investigators and this has led to the decision to commission a 
“managed service”. 

 
18 The impact of this has been significant with 5 of the 7 complaints commissioned 

through this route (71%) completed within the maximum 65 working days. 
 

19 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman investigated eight complaints 
relating to Children’s Social Care during 2018-19 and found fault in two instances. 
Financial payments totalling £500 were requested by the Ombudsman this year 
along with recommendations to review the County Council’s approach to record-
keeping and strengthen management oversight of Child Protection cases. 

 
20 49 compliments were received and forwarded to the Complaints Manager during 

2018-19.  This is an increase on last year (33). The Complaints team continue to 
remind managers of the importance of recognising and sharing positive feedback, 
which bring balance to the annual report. 

 
Recurring themes 
 
21 The following key learning points are highlighted by the Complaints team as recurring 

themes:  
 

 General delay in Child Protection case management – notably in one Locality 
office. 

 Speed of progressing support for post adopters. 

 Delays in updating families on the outcomes of decisions made, particularly 
where no further action is required. 

 
22 These themes have been discussed with senior managers and appropriate actions 

have been tabled to address the issues. 
 

23 Case studies can be a helpful way of setting out actions taken by the department in 
response to complaints and four examples are set out within the annual report 
showing clear examples of how complaints are driving service improvement. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
24 The annual report outlines that the costs incurred through the complaints procedure 

were £48,750, an increase of £10,000 on 2017/18. This is driven largely by the 
increase in Stage 3 panel hearings and two lengthy independent investigations at 
Stage 2. 

 
25 Improvement activity will be carried out within existing resources and therefore there 

are no resource implications. The Director of Corporate Resources has been 
consulted on this report. 

 
Conclusions 
 

26 There has been a significant increase in the volume of complaints this year and there 
continues to be some pressure on response timescales. 

 

105



 
27 A number of themes have been identified and discussed with managers and senior 

practitioners to inform service improvement. It is a positive that complaints 
intelligence has been able to inform clear service improvements that are required. 

 
28 The low level of complaints upheld by the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman gives good re-assurance that complaints are, for the most part, 
addressed appropriately through the complaints procedure, and where applicable 
appropriate remedies are provided. 

 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 
Circulation under the Local Alert Issues Procedure 
 

29 None. 
 

Officers to contact 
   
Jane Moore  
Director, Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 305 7441 
Email: Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk  
 

 

Sharon Cooke  
Assistant Director, Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 305 5479 
Email: Sharon.cooke@leics.gov.uk  
 

 

Simon Parsons 
Complaints Manager, Corporate Resources 
Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6243 
Email: simon.parsons@leics.gov.uk  

 

 
List of Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Children’s Social Care Statutory Complaints and Compliments: Annual 
Report - April 2018-March 2019 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
30 The Children and Family Services Department supports vulnerable children and 

young people from across all communities in Leicestershire.  Complaints and 
compliments are a way of ensuring that service responses are fair and equitable to 
all.  This report does not highlight any specific equal opportunities implications. 

 

106

mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.cooke@leics.gov.uk
mailto:simon.parsons@leics.gov.uk


   

Complaints 

Corporate Resources Dept 

          

Children’s Social Care 

 

Statutory Complaints and 

Compliments Annual Report 

2018/2019 

107



 

- 2 - 

CONTENTS 

1. Purpose and Summary of Report .................................................................. 3 

2. Complaints and Compliments received 2018-19........................................... 4 

3. Service Performance 2018-19 ...................................................................... 8 

4. Financial Implications .................................................................................. 13 

5. Learning from Complaints ........................................................................... 15 

6. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman ....................................... 20 

7. Monitoring the Process ............................................................................... 21 

8. Concluding Comments ................................................................................ 21 

APPENDIX A – Sample of compliments received ............................................. 22 

 

108



 

- 3 - 

1. Purpose and Summary of Report 

1.1. To report statistical information to Members and Officers detailing 

Leicestershire County Council’s (LCC) Children’s Social Care complaints 

activity from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 including any developments and 

planned improvements.  

1.2. To meet the requirements of Regulation 18(2) of Statutory Instrument 2006 

No. 1681 Local Authority Social Services Complaints (England) Regulations 

2006 and Regulation 13(3) of Statutory Instrument 2006 No. 1738 The 

Children Act (1989) Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 

2006. 

1.3. For the current year the following Statutory guidance remains relevant: 

• Getting the best from Complaints 2006 

1.4. This report provides analysis and comment for Children and Family 

Services on all complaints managed under the statutory process. Those 

complainants not qualifying under the statutory process are considered 

under the County Council’s Corporate Complaint Annual Report presented 

annually to the Scrutiny Commission.  

1.5. The Complaints Manager role is responsible for ensuring that complaints 

are handled appropriately and providing support to the department in 

resolving complex cases. In addition, the Complaints Manager will highlight 

key trends that emerge each year and any recommendations that would 

improve how we work. The Children and Family Services department retain 

responsibility for actioning any such improvements. 

109



 

- 4 - 

2. Complaints and compliments received 2018-19 

2.1. Foreword 

This report only considers complaints identified as statutory complaints as defined 

by the Statutory Guidance outlined within “Getting the Best from complaints” 

There are two key tests applied in making the above assessment.  

1) Is the complainant eligible? 

2) Is the subject matter within scope of the procedure? 

Concerns that fall outside of the scope of the statutory complaints framework are 

responded to by the complaints unit and are then handled in line with the relevant 

alternative route which typically includes 

• Consideration as a corporate complaint 

• Referral to the LSCB appeals procedure 

• Explanation that the matter cannot be considered as the subject matter has 

/ will be adjudicated in Court 

2.2. Complaint Volumes 

Volumes of complaints should be considered in the light of the number of cases 

which the Children’s Social Care service received during the year. There are a 

number of indicators which might impact on complaint volumes but Table 1 

indicates the principal ones which can affect demands.  

Table 1 – Social Care demand 2017/18 2018/19 % Change 

   17/18 to 18/19 

Referrals to Children’s Social Care 7299 5214 -28.6% 

Single Assessments 4417 4152 -6.0% 

Children in Care at 31 March 555 584 +5.2% 

Child Protection Plans at 31 March 394 388 -1.5% 

The indicator that has significantly changed during 2018-19 is the overall number 

of referrals made. Despite this reduced initial volume of new work, Single 

assessments and Child Protection Plans are broadly the same. 

As illustrated below (Table 2), the total number of complaints received at stage 1 

increased at approximately the same rate as the year before (45%). Volume of 

new complaints has however started to reduce during the final quarter as depicted 

in Table 3. 

 

110



 

- 5 - 

It is important to recognise that volume increase in itself does not necessarily 

indicate a deteriorating picture. It could for example indicate that the complaints 

procedure is more accessible or that managers are “self-referring” more 

complaints into the formal process. The importance and discipline of doing this 

has been re-emphasised during the year. 

To provide context to complaint volumes, the number of referrals to Children’s 

Social Care in Table 1 has been used and this shows that 2.6% go on to make a 

formal complaint (1.3% in 2017-18). 

 

 

 

 

 

111



 

- 6 - 

2.3. Complaints accepted at stages 2 & 3 

The number of requests considered for Stage 2 of the process decreased by one 

compared with the previous year. As a percentage of Stage 1 complaints this is a 

healthy decrease on the volume seeking escalation (-4%). 

Every effort is made to prevent Stage 1 complaints escalating and this report 

highlights good progress in this area. This has included more focus on 

conversations with complainants and conciliation meetings. This is paying 

dividends in the relatively low escalation rates which at 6.7% are the lowest 

achieved within the last 5 years. 

Of the nine complaints considered at Stage 2 of the process, four went on to 

request a Stage 3 panel hearing. One requested an early referral to the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman. This equates to a 55% escalation from 

Stage 2. 

Of the four requested panel hearings, all have been resolved with one outstanding 

at time of writing this report. Following the conclusion of the panel hearings, three 

complainants remained dis-satisfied and pursued their complaint to the 

Ombudsman. Stage 3 Panels cannot re-investigate complaints and as such can 

only look at the quality and comprehensiveness of the Independent report at Stage 

2. Although the panel’s remit is clearly explained to complainants, it is a factor in 

the poor resolution rates at this stage of the process. 

The Council also rejected two requests to escalate to Stage 2 as the matters had 

become intertwined with care proceedings being issued. 

As referenced in last year’s annual report, the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman (LGO) take a rigid approach on consideration of early referrals. The 

implications are that it is more important than ever to be clear at the outset which 

complaints procedure should be used. Once the statutory procedure has been 

initiated, the LGO expects all stages to be completed. 

This has implications for the department and highlights the need to ensure every 

effort is made to resolve complaints at Stage 1 of the process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

112



 

- 7 - 

2.4. Statutory complaints by Service area 

The Complaints Manager records all statutory complaints at a service level and 

table 3 below shows the results for 2018-19 overlaid against the previous year. 

Table 3: Complaints received by Service Area 

 

2.5 Compliments received 

During 2018-19 there were 49 compliments recorded regarding Children’s Social 

Care officers. This is an increase from 2017-18 (33). Compliments have been 

received from across all areas of the business. It is likely that the increase is 

principally down to greater diligence in recording. 

A selection of the positive comments received appears in Appendix A and 

provides an important balance when reviewing the performance of the department. 

113



 

- 8 - 

3 Service Performance 2018-19 

The key performance indicators for speed of response, outcomes, causes and 

identified learning are linked to complaints that have been resolved within any 

given reporting period rather than received. 

This is important as it ensures that full data sets are able to be presented, both to 

departments on a quarterly basis, and at year end. It also avoids the scenario 

whereby Ombudsman findings of maladministration might not appear in annual 

reports (where outcomes are not known at the time of production). 

It follows from all of the above that the figures presented below will not match the 

data presented in section two of this report which focused on complaints received. 

3.1. Responsiveness to complaints 

Table 4: Children’s Services Performance at stage 1 

 

Table 4 above details the time taken to respond to complaints at Stage 1 and 

provides a comparison between last year and the current reporting year.  

There was almost identical performance during 2018-19 and work continues to be 

required to improve our position here. Whilst on occasions there are good reasons 

for complaints taking over the 20 working days to resolve (usually where meetings 

are being arranged) at 23% of the overall volume this figure remains higher than it 

should. Work continues with the department to improve performance in this area 

It is important to stress that, where complainants have not agreed an extension 

and there is no good reason for a complaint to exceed 20 working days, the 

Complaints Manager is duty bound to offer a Stage 2 investigation. During 2018-

19 the Council were criticised by the Ombudsman around timeliness of processing 

114



 

- 9 - 

the Stage 1 complaint and this has resulted in a review of our procedures and 

crucially the escalation protocols. This should generate the necessary 

improvements during 2019-20 

Response timescales at Stage 2 

Completion of Stage 2 investigations within the statutory guidelines (65 working 

days) continues to be a challenge for the Council. 

Of the ten stage 2 complaints which were adjudicated on during the year, just 

three (30%) were completed within timescales. 3 cases took over 100 working 

days each to resolve. 

It is difficult to bring about improvements in this area as, being an ‘independent’ 

stage, responsibility for finalising reports rests with commissioned investigators.  

The key point of delay appears to be at the outset of the Investigation with 

Investigators wanting to ensure they have an approved record of complaint even if 

there is already a formal complaint in writing. Whilst it is accepted that the initial 

meeting is vital in being clear on the scope, the Ombudsman has issued decisions 

making clear that the clock cannot be stopped at this point. 

The Ombudsman has however indicated that providing the Local Authority is 

managing the expectations of a complainant and not unduly delaying resolution, 

there is unlikely to be criticism of not meeting this timescale. 

In order to improve our performance at this stage of the process, the Council now 

commissions independent investigators differently. We now buy into a managed 

service for both Stage 2 and Stage 3. This has the benefits of an account manager 

to monitor and quality assure reports before they are presented to the Council. 

Although this has some implications to the cost of this stage, there have been 

clear benefits in the quality and timeliness of reports delivered this year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

115



 

- 10 - 

3.2. Complaint Causes 

To try to understand the main causes leading to complaints, the complaints team 

assess the underlying principal cause for each complaint determined. The results 

for both 2017-18 and 2018-19 are shown below in table 5. 

Table 5 – What were complaints about?  

 

The biggest single area continues to be disputed decision making or professional 

judgement which represented the primary theme in 43 instances.  

It is recognised that the nature of our involvement with families will often mean 

differing viewpoints (and resulting tensions) will be inevitable on some occasions.  

The biggest change was the increase in complaints citing delay which rose from 

10% of the volume in 2017-18 to 20% of the volume in 2018-19. 

During the year there have been some resourcing issues at different points and 

this has been a factor in the rise in complaints around delay in progression of 

cases. 

Recurring themes in this area were: 

• Lack of timely contact with parents 

• Delays in dispatching of assessments and other requested information 

• Difficulties contacting allocated workers 

It is also important to note that there has been a noticeable reduction in the quality 

or detail within single assessments. This was an area highlighted within the 2017-

116



 

- 11 - 

18 annual report and it is pleasing to see the reduction in complaints around this 

theme. 

3.3. Who complains? 

In 2018/19, four complaints were made directly by children or young people. This 

is a similar number to 2017-18 when 6 cases were received. 

It is not unusual for numbers of complaints made by young persons to be low and 

this mirrors the situation reported by regional colleagues. 

It remains a key priority of the Complaints Manager to ensure that everything is 

being done to improve accessibility of the complaints process to our children and 

young people and there continue to be good links between the Children’s Rights 

Officers and Complaints. Regular discussions are held to ensure and check that 

appropriate processes are followed in order to resolve issues. 

The remaining complaints (128) were brought by parents, foster carers, adopters 

or anyone else identified as having sufficient interest in the child or young person’s 

welfare.1 

3.4. Complaint Outcomes 

Table 6: Children’s Services complaints recorded by outcome 

 

Table 6 above shows that fault was found in 47 (35%) of the complaints 

considered during the year. This is a very marginal decrease from the previous 

year (37%) 

                                            

1 Guidance set out in section 2.6 of Getting the Best from Complaints. 

117



 

- 12 - 

It is important to note that findings of fault is not necessarily a bad thing as it can 

also be a sign of greater maturity within complaints handling. It is always important 

to listen to what we are being told about our service in order to put matters right at 

the earliest opportunity, and to learn and improve. Managers are also encouraged 

not to handle complaints defensively and this is evidenced in a number of cases 

whereby we have accepted that there are opportunities to improve. 

In some cases, complaints are not able to be determined as there are 

irreconcilable versions of events. In these situations, rather than record the 

complaint as “Not Upheld”, the complaints team will instead record them as “No 

Finding” which more accurately reflects the outcome. 

118



 

- 13 - 

4. Financial Implications 

Children’s Service Complaints expenditure 

Both Stages 2 and 3 of the statutory complaints procedure require independent 

investigation to take place. 

At Stage 2, the authority is required to appoint an Investigative Officer who must 

not work in the same area as the complaint being investigated and be suitably 

trained to carry out investigative work. 

Whilst it is not mandatory that this role is appointed externally, the County 

Council’s current policy is to do so. In addition to the Investigative Officer, the 

Regulations also require an Independent Person to be appointed to ensure the 

investigation is carried out fairly. This is a mandatory requirement no matter if the 

Investigating Officer is also independent. 

At Stage 3, the procedure is for a panel hearing to be held to review the Stage 2 

investigation. This involves the appointment of 3 external panel members. 

Leicestershire County Council can also explore independent mediation as an 

alternative form of redress through Stages 2 or 3. Mediation has not been used 

this year for any cases.  

There have however been a number of conciliation meetings chaired by the 

Complaints Manager with the emphasis on resolving complaints between Stages 1 

and 2. A well-planned conciliation meeting can offer a better and more appropriate 

remedy for complainants. 

Finally, on rare occasions, financial redress is offered as part of the Complaints 

procedure. Usually this is by way of a Local Settlement with the Ombudsman, but 

can also be recommended at either Stage 2 or 3 of the procedure. 

Table 8 below details the total costs incurred during the last 3 financial years. All 

costs are re-charged directly to the department. 

Table 8 Costs incurred through complaints procedure2 

Spend Total 2016/17 Total 2017/18 Total 2018/19 

Stage 2 Costs £16,540 £31,340 £42,260 

Stage 3 £1,810 £7,150 £5,980 

Mediation £0 £0 £0 

Financial Redress £0 £150 £510 

Total £18,350 £38,640 £48,750 

                                            

2 Figures are rounded up to nearest £10. One Stage 3 panel costs remain outstanding at date of issue 

119



 

- 14 - 

Costs incurred for 2018/19 represent a further increase on previous year. Largely 

this reflects the increase in Stage 3 panel hearings held. 

Costs continue to be controlled through a number of ways including: 

➢ Complaints Team proactively looking for opportunities to resolve via 

meetings if any prospect of success. 

➢ Ensuring that complainants are eligible to use the statutory complaints 

procedure 

➢ Imposition of restrictions to the scope of some independent investigations. 

Typically, around matters that have been determined in the Court arena. 

➢ Use of a 3rd party organisation to manage Stage 2 and 3 complaints. Whilst 

more expensive per hour, cost analysis shows neutral overall due to better 

management of costs. 

120



 

- 15 - 

 

5. Learning from Complaints 

Complaints are a valuable source of information which can help to identify 

recurring or underlying problems and potential improvements. We know that 

numbers alone do not tell everything about the attitude towards complaints and 

how they are responded to locally. Arguably of more importance is to understand 

the impact those complaints have on people and to learn the lessons from 

complaints to improve the experience for others.  

Lessons can usually be learned from complaints that were upheld but also in 

some instances where no fault was found but the Authority recognises that 

improvements to services can be made. 

Occasionally during an investigation issues will be identified that need to be 

addressed over and above the original complaint. The Complaints Team will 

always try to look at the “bigger picture” to ensure that residents receive the best 

possible service from the Council. 

5.1 Corrective action taken 

All the 47 complaints where fault has been found have been reviewed by the 

Complaints Team to ascertain what action the relevant department has taken, 

both in remedying the fault, and any wider learning to avoid such issues occurring 

in the future. 

Remedial action typically consists of both individual redress (e.g. apology, carrying 

out overdue work) and wider actions that may affect many. On some occasions, 

fault has already been remedied so the complaints process is used to re-assure 

that appropriate action has been taken. 

Table 8 (overleaf) depicts the actions taken during 2018-19. This shows that in 14 

complaints (30%), clear actions were identified which should improve service for 

other members of the public. The most common of these is staff training but this 

category would include reviewing local policies and providing additional resources 

to help deal with demand. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

121



 

- 16 - 

Table 8: Actions taken for upheld complaints 2018-19 

 

5.2 Service Improvements during 2018-19 

Research shows that a primary driver for making complaints is so that lessons can 

be learned, and processes improved. It is also a key part of an effective 

complaints procedure to demonstrate this organisational learning so that in turn 

the public can feel confident that complaints do make a difference. 

Case studies can be a powerful way of promoting this and to illustrate some of the 

positive action taken this year from complaints, four such examples are set out 

below: 

5.2.1. Frustration over delays in accessing post-adoption fund 

A contacted the Council experiencing significant frustration with an apparent lack 

of progress in an assessment being completed to enable access to financial 

support through the post adoption fund 

 

Actions taken 

These concerns arose in several complaints during the year and the Council’s 

investigations found both resourcing and knowledge issues were contributing 

factors. 

122



 

- 17 - 

In response a business case was developed which would see ownership of this 

matter move from the locality teams to the Adoption service. This was approved 

and is now in place. This will bring advantages of specialist resource and simplify 

the processes for families 

In addition to the above the Adoption service now benefits from a dedicated 

Business Support offer which is helping with prompt turnaround of administrative 

requests. 

5.2.2. B’s Story – Frustration with lack of contact with social work team 

B contacted the Council unhappy with the lack of updates and communication he 

was having with our Child Protection team. There appeared to be limited progress 

being made on actions that arose from core group meetings. 

 

Actions taken 

The Council’s investigation found that there were issues with consistency of both 

the allocated worker and Team Manager. This coupled with poor case recording 

and a lack of timely supervision had allowed the case to drift outside of what we 

considered to be acceptable. 

This was not an isolated case during the year and improvements were required to 

be made in several areas 

I. Improving our retention rates for workers and managers 

Recruitment and retention of social workers is a significant challenge both for 

Leicestershire and nationally. It is also clear from complaints analysis of this and 

other cases that it has significant impact on how well cases are progressed. 

The Council has in place a dedicated strategy and over the last year have made 

good progress with reductions in turnover and vacancy rates as set out below 

Measure Baseline (2017) December 2018 March 2019 

Turnover rate 19.6% 13.3% 13.3% 

Vacancy rate 18.5% 9.8% 4.6% 

Agency rate  18.7% (49) 17.5% (48.5) 14.2% (41) 

 

Driving the above improvements are developments such as: 

• The introduction of a market premia for key social care roles 

123



 

- 18 - 

• A refreshed AYSE programme to strengthen support for new workers 

• Introduction of “protected learning” time for Managers and teams to ensure 

capacity to create a safe learning culture. 

This remains a vital area and a clear strategy is in place to maintain and further 

improve the progress made to date. 

II. Improving our case recording standards 

This is another theme that featured in several cases. Clear practice standards are 

already in place covering this area and the Council has also purchased a new 

suite of case recording forms which are aligned to our practice methodology 

(Signs of Safety).  

Once these are implemented, this should promote significant improvements in 

recording discipline. 

5.2.3. Taking too long to progress adaptations to a property 

C contacted the Council unhappy with the lack of progress made in arranging for 

adaptations to the family home which they said was required to help a disabled 

child. 

 

An independent Investigation found that the Council was failing to work 

collaboratively with the housing authority and that this had led to both delay and a 

lack of clarity on the family’s behalf as to what needed to happen. 

It was recognised that an assessment had not been completed which would 

determine whether there were needs that required a Disabled Facilities Grant, but 

the Council accepted that improvements were required to how the Council 

holistically looked at cases such as this. 

In response, we have improved the collaboration between Childrens and Adults 

OT sections and introduced a new joint working protocol with the Lightbulb service 

hosted by Blaby District Council. This should prevent future cases becoming 

caught between two sections and provides clear pathways for escalation and 

response. 

5.2.4. Uncertainty around the outcome of a referral made to First Response 

D had to make a formal complaint to understand the outcome of a referral that 

they made alerting the Council to potential welfare concerns for their son. There 

had been no feedback from the team as to the status of the case 

124



 

- 19 - 

The Council’s investigation found that the case had been correctly considered and 

appropriate agency checks made. This concluded that there was no further action 

required but the referrer was not informed of the decision. 

This was not an isolated case during the early part of the year and in response the 

First Response service has taken steps to ensure we offer outcomes to families 

and professionals when there is a decision to take no further action (NFA).  

Team Managers are auditing these cases and ensuring that Single Assessments 

are being given to families at the end of assessment. Through the final two 

quarters of 2018-19 there has been a clear reduction of such complaints. 

125



 

- 20 - 

6. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO) made 8 new 

enquiries of the Council during 2018-19. This included complaints around Child 

Protection, Strengthening Families, Fostering and Adoption and First Response. 

This was a decrease by six from 2017-18. 

The Ombudsman made decisions on eight complaints which related to children’s 

social care during the year, with fault found in two instances (25%). This is an 

increase from the previous year but not one considered significant.  

A summary of the complaints considered, and their respective outcomes appears 

below.  

• 5 Outside of Jurisdiction or where at an assessment stage the Ombudsman 

felt unlikely it would achieve anything through further investigation 

Two of these complaints focused on reports that had already been 

considered within the Court arena. These were not recorded as Stage 1 

complaints for the same reasons. The Ombudsman accepted the Council’s 

position in both instances. 

• 1 Not Upheld after LGO detailed Investigation 

• 2 findings of Fault with Injustice 

CASE 1 – Concerned the Council’s consideration of a referral about incidents at a 

School. Fault was found in the failure to provide evidence of school visits or 

conversations with the School. 

The Council accepted the decision and made a formal apology to the parent. It 

also agreed to carry out a review of procedures in managing Ofsted referrals. 

Reminders to all staff of the importance of record-keeping were also sent. 

CASE 2 – A complaint regarding Child Protection Service failing to adequately 

safeguard a grand-daughter. 

The Ombudsman concluded that the Council had failed to work effectively in 

partnership with the grand-mother along with finding fault with the Council’s 

record-keeping, quality and measurability of Child Protection Plans and lack of 

appropriate oversight when actions were not being progressed. 

The Council accepted the findings and agreed a financial payment of £500 along 

with reviewing our procedures in this area. A number of improvements have since 

been implemented in response. This includes the launch of revised practice 

standards and strengthening management oversight of cases. 

 

126



 

- 21 - 

 

7. Monitoring the Process 

The Complaints team continues to support Children’s Services to manage and 

learn from complaints. The key services offered to CFS are - 

1. Complaints advice and support 

2. Production of Performance Reports 

3. Liaison with Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

4. Quality Assurance of complaint responses 

5. Complaint handling training for Operational Managers 

Assistance continues to be routinely provided to Heads of Service in drafting 

adjudication responses to Stage 2 investigations. This helps ensure a consistency 

of response and that clear action plans are created. 

The Complaints Manager meets regularly with the Heads of Service and 

periodically also attends the Children’s Social Care Services Senior Management 

Team to talk through complaints matters. The Complaints Manager also attends 

an annual Practice Summit for all practitioners to share and discuss the key 

complaint themes. 

8. Concluding Comments 

It is clear that there has been significant demand increase this year of complaints.  

At the same time there is evidence of cultural improvement to the management of 

social care complaints. There are signs of greater willingness by Team Managers 

to have more personal contact at an early stage of resolution and this is translating 

to a decrease in the escalation rates of complaints. 

There also continues to be relatively low level of fault found by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman which provides validation that where 

required, appropriate remedial action is being taken by the Council to remedy any 

faults. 

There are good examples this year of how we have taken complaints learning to 

help improve our practice. The challenge is to ensure we can harness more of this 

learning from Stage 1 resolutions.  

The complaints training being delivered to Team Managers provides a number of 

tools and techniques to help with this and also to help improve consistency and 

quality of complaint responses across the board. 

127



 

- 22 - 

APPENDIX A – Sample of compliments received  

Below is a selection of the positive recognition the social care department has 

received during the 2018-19 year. 

• Thanks so much for organising the party. R had a fantastic time – CHILDREN 

IN CARE TEAM 

• Thank you all for all the help and support I get. The end of last year hasn't 

been the easiest time for us but we've got through it. A special thank you to V 

and H who have listened to me and supported me through this tough time – 

FOSTERING 

• Really good work from the adoption social worker - brilliant manner and 

approach ADOPTION TEAM 

• Compliment re the work undertaken on promoting online child safety – 

SAFEGUARDING UNIT 

• Thanks very much for the assistance provided to the family… really well 

chaired conferences in difficult circumstances – SAFEGUARDING 

• X has quickly got to the bottom of my daughter’s challenging behaviour and 

built good rapport. She is also very approachable and never judgemental of my 

circumstances – CHILD PROTECTION LOUGHBOROUGH 

• Thanks to A SW who has been a really great help and changed my view of 

social services – CHILD PROTECTION HINCKLEY 

• Really good work from the adoption social worker - brilliant manner and 

approach- ADOPTION TEAM 

 

128


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 September 2019.
	9 Progress Report: Ofsted Recommendations as Part of the Ofsted Continuous Improvement Action Plan 2017-2020 - The Road to Excellence.
	10 Overview of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Improvements.
	11 Corporate Parenting Strategy.
	Appendix A Corporate Parenting Strategy

	12 Leicestershire Fostering Agency Statutory Report.
	T0425 Fostering annual report 02a

	13 Leicestershire Adoption Agency Statutory Report.
	T0458 Adoption annual report 02 amended

	14 Annual Complaints and Compliments Report.
	Appendix A Childrens Social Care Complaints Annual Report 2018-19


